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OPINION OF THE COMMISSION  

 CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDING 

 INVESTMENT ADVISER PROCEEDING 

 BROKER-DEALER PROCEEDING 

  Grounds for Remedial Action    

  Antifraud Violations 

Respondent, who was chief compliance officer of a dually registered investment adviser 

and broker-dealer, violated the antifraud provisions of the securities laws.  Held, it is in 

the public interest to (i) bar respondent from association with any broker, dealer, 

investment adviser, municipal securities dealer or transfer agent; (ii) prohibit respondent 

from serving or acting as an employee, officer, director, member of an advisory board, 

investment adviser or  depositor of, or principal underwriter for, a registered investment 

company or affiliated  person of such investment adviser, depositor, or principal 

underwriter; (iii) enter a cease-and-desist order; (iv) order disgorgement; and (v) assess a 

third-tier civil money penalty. 
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APPEARANCES: 

 Bernerd E. Young, pro se. 

 David Reece, Chris Davis, and Janie Frank, for the Division of Enforcement. 

Appeal filed:  September 25, 2013 

Last brief received:  January 6, 2014 

Oral argument: February 8, 2016 

 

 Bernerd Young, former chief compliance officer of Stanford Group Company ("SGC" or 

the "Firm"), a dually registered investment adviser and broker-dealer, appeals from an initial 

decision finding that he violated antifraud provisions of the Securities Act of 1933, the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934, the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, and rules thereunder.1  Based on 

her findings of violation, the law judge issued a cease-and-desist order against Young; barred 

him from association with any broker, dealer, investment adviser, municipal securities dealer, 

municipal advisor, transfer agent, or nationally recognized statistical rating organization; and 

prohibited him from serving or acting as an employee, officer, director, member of an advisory 

board, investment adviser or depositor of, or principal underwriter for, a registered investment 

company or affiliated person of such investment adviser, depositor, or principal underwriter.  

The law judge also ordered Young to pay $591,992.46 in disgorgement, with prejudgment 

interest, and assessed a third-tier civil penalty of $260,000.  We base our findings on an 

independent review of the record, except with respect to those findings not challenged on appeal. 

Introduction 

 This case concerns Young's role in a multi-billion dollar "Ponzi" scheme carried out by 

Robert Allen Stanford through a network of 130 companies he controlled (collectively, Stanford 

Financial Group or "SFG").2  At the center of this fraud were "CDs" issued by Stanford 

International Bank Limited ("SIB" or the "Bank"), a foreign bank organized under Antiguan 

law.3  Young was associated with SGC, a Houston-based registered investment adviser and 

                                                           
1  The law judge found that SGC violated the antifraud provisions of Advisers Act Section 

206(2) and that Young was a cause of that violation.  The law judge further found that Young 

violated the antifraud provisions of Securities Act Section 17(a); violated, and aided and abetted 

and caused SGC's violations of, Exchange Act Section 10(b) and Exchange Act Rule 10b-5; and 

aided and abetted and caused SGC's violations of Advisers Act Sections 206(1) and (2) and 

Exchange Act Section 15(c)(1).  Daniel Bogar, Initial Decision Release No. 502, 2013 WL 

393608 (Aug. 2, 2013). 

2 A Ponzi scheme, named for the perpetrator of such a scheme in the 1920s, is an 

investment fraud that involves the payment of purported returns to existing investors from funds 

contributed by new investors.  See Fast Answers:  Ponzi Schemes, available at   

http://www.sec.gov/answers/ponzi.htm (last visited Mar. 9, 2015).   

3  Although SGC made varying claims about whether the CDs were securities, Young does 

not dispute their status as securities for purposes of this appeal, which is consistent with holdings 
(continued…) 
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broker-dealer that promoted the CDs to U.S. investors as an affiliate of SFG.  SGC convinced 

U.S. investors that SIB was a legitimate bank with a proven track record of consistent above-

market returns on the CDs.  But instead of being invested in diversified and liquid holdings, as 

claimed, investor funds financed Stanford's lavish lifestyle and acquisition of Antiguan real 

estate, compensated other scheme participants, and paid returns to earlier investors.  SFG also 

used proceeds to bribe SIB's Antiguan bank regulator, the Financial Services Regulatory 

Commission (the "FSRC"), and SIB's auditor, C.A.S. Hewlett & Co., Ltd., to "not examine 

[SIB's] books" and "to dishonestly audit [SIB's] financial condition," respectively.4 

 Over two decades, SFG appeared to thrive by generating a continuous large volume of 

new CD sales.  By 2008, SIB claimed approximately $7.2 billion in CD investments.  SFG 

collapsed in early 2009 when it was unable to generate sufficient funds from new CD sales to 

cover interest and redemption payments, leaving investors with billions of dollars in losses.5   

I.  Background 

A. SGC heavily promoted the CDs with false and misleading claims. 

SGC heavily promoted the CDs as its "premiere" investment product, and it paid its 

financial advisors ("FAs") above-market fees and commissions that were approximately 150 

times the amount paid for selling U.S. bank CDs.  Sales targets, contests, and bonuses were also 

used to promote the CDs, and SGC disciplined employees who failed to generate sufficient CD 

revenue.  For example, SGC fired a managing director ("MD") who encouraged FAs to diversify 

and reduce their clients' CD holdings.
 
 These incentives worked:  as the former MD testified, the 

"vast majority of financial advisors only focused on the CD[s]."  

  

                                                           
 
(…continued) 

in related proceedings.  See Petition for Review note 1 ("For purposes of this submission and our 

10(b) and 17(a) analysis, we assume that the CD is a security").  Cf. Chadbourne & Parke LLP v, 

Troice, 134 S. Ct. 1058, 1070 (2014) ("[T]he term 'security ' under § 10(b) covers a wide range 

of financial products . . . , apparently including the Bank's certificates of deposits at issue in these 

cases."); SEC v. Stanford Intl. Bank (3:09cv298) (N.D. Tex. Nov. 30, 2011) (denying motion to 

dismiss and concluding that "the CDs are securities under the federal securities laws"). 

4  Janvey v. Democratic Senatorial Campaign Comm., 712 F.3d 185, 198 (5th Cir. 2013).   

5  See generally Janvey v. Adams, 588 F.3d 831, 833 (5th Cir. 2009) (receivership 

litigation); SEC v. SIPC, 758 F.3d 357 (D.C. Cir. 2014) (SIPC litigation); Chadbourne & Parke, 

134 S. Ct. at 1064-65 (class action litigation). 
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 SGC depended for its financial survival on fees it received from SFG and SIB CD sales.  

From 2004 through 2008, SIB accounted for more than 50 percent of SGC's revenue, which also 

included fees SIB paid SGC for research and for managing SIB private equity investments.  

Additionally, SGC depended on regular capital contributions that Stanford channeled through 

SGC's holding company.  These capital infusions were substantial, totaling $51.5 million in 

2006, $41.75 million in 2007, and $51.0 million in 2008.     

 In communications to clients and FAs, SGC consistently touted the safety of the CDs 

based on information that had not been verified by, or was inconsistent with facts known to, 

Young and other senior SGC officials.  These communications included a disclosure statement 

(the "Disclosure Statement") and marketing brochure (the "Brochure") that were distributed to 

investors, and a training manual (the "Manual" and, collectively, the "Marketing Materials").   

The Marketing Materials reflected SGC's sales pitch for the CDs, which focused on the 

portfolio's asserted safety and liquidity without disclosing that the Bank refused to allow 

investors or SGC personnel to access information that would verify the actual assets in its 

portfolio.6  Describing the CDs in the reassuring terms of traditional banking products, the 

Marketing Materials also emphasized SIB's private insurance policies and led investors, who 

were repeatedly described as "depositors," to believe that the policies provided "depositor 

security."  

More specifically, the Disclosure Statement falsely claimed that "the funds deposited 

with us are primarily invested in foreign and US investment grade bonds and securities and 

Eurodollars and foreign currency deposits."  According to the Disclosure Statement, the portfolio 

reflected "global diversification in the investment markets," and held as of December 31, 2006:  

57.4 percent equities; 21.9 percent treasury bonds, notes, and corporate bonds; 13.0 percent 

metals; and 7.7 percent "alternatives."  The Disclosure Statement also falsely stated that 

"conservation of principal and interest rates on the CD Deposits are dependent upon returns in 

our investment portfolio."  

Despite the Bank’s unwillingness to disclose its holdings, the Disclosure Statement 

falsely claimed that SIB would give investors "an opportunity to ask questions and receive 

answers, and to obtain such additional information as you may request concerning the [CDs] and 

our financial condition."  It further falsely stated that the FSRC "aggressive[ly]" regulated SIB. 

 Additionally, the Disclosure Statement included misleading statements about SIB's 

insurance policies.  The Disclosure Statement identified ten different types of private insurance 

held by the Bank.  Included among these was a $20 million "excess FDIC and Depository 

Insolvency" policy, which purported to protect the Bank "against the possible insolvency of 

specified financial institutions where we may place our own funds."7  But none of the policy 

                                                           
6  The only SIB investments that SGC had any insight into were illiquid private equity 

investments that SGC managed.  Such investments, which were valued at less than 1% of the 

purported total CD portfolio, were inconsistent with SGC's claims about portfolio liquidity.  

7
  The Disclosure Statement contained two types of insurance disclaimers: (1) "NOT 

INSURED BY THE FDIC OR ANY OTHER AGENCY OF THE UNITED STATES 
(continued…) 
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descriptions indicated how the policies protected, or were even relevant to, CD investors.  As 

Young acknowledged in testimony, he knew that the insurance did not cover CD investors.   

 The Brochure, which was also typically provided to SGC's clients, made similar 

assurances, falsely describing SIB's holdings as a "conservative" and "well diversified portfolio 

of highly marketable securities issued by stable governments, strong multinational companies 

and major international banks" and claiming that the Bank maintained "the highest degree of 

liquidity as a protective factor for our depositors."8  The Brochure also highlighted SIB's 

"comprehensive insurance program" as a factor promoting "[d]epositor [s]ecurity."   

These misrepresentations were repeated and expanded on during Firm training 

presentations (the "Training Presentations") that Young was responsible for and in which he 

participated.  For instance, Young personally delivered a February 2008 Training Presentation 

where he told the FAs that "[f]or the past 20 years, SIB clients have enjoyed interest rates on 

their deposits that are consistently higher than the . . . rates paid by other banks" and that were 

generated through a portfolio investment philosophy emphasizing "the highest degree of 

diversification."  Similarly, during a June 2008 Training Presentation, Young and another SGC 

official provided assurances that SIB had a "[g]lobally diversified portfolio," and that Hewlett 

and the FSRC provided "appropriate oversight."  The Training Presentation also falsely claimed 

that, although the CDs paid annual returns of between 15.71 percent and 11.72 percent from 

1994 through 2004, SIB's returns on its portfolio exceeded its costs by at least five percent for 

each of those years. 

  

                                                           
 
(…continued) 

GOVERNMENT OR ANY STATE JURISDICTION OR BY ANY INSURANCE PROGRAM 

OF THE GOVERNMENT OF ANTIGUA"; and (2) "This insurance does not insure customer 

deposits and is not the equivalent of FDIC insurance offered on deposits at many institutions in 

the United States." 

8  SGC stopped using the Brochure in November 2007 when FINRA instituted a 

disciplinary action against SGC for misrepresentations.  Contrary to Young's claim that SIB had 

sole responsibility for the Brochure, Young participated in related negotiations with FINRA, 

which resulted in revisions to the Brochure.  At that time, FINRA stated that it "do[es] not 

provide an opinion on the appropriateness of the specific products . . . being solicited" and that 

"[i]t is assumed that the material does not omit material facts, contain statements that are not 

factual, or offer opinions that do not have a reasonable basis."  As Young acknowledged, FINRA 

"was not in a position to verify the statements . . . about SIB's investment portfolio."    
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The Training Presentations, like the Marketing Documents, included inconsistent and 

ambiguous statements about insurance.  One slide stated that the CDs were "Not Insured" and 

could not be "compared equally with U.S. CDs" because of "Major Differences,"9 but another 

slide assured the FAs that SIB had a Lloyd's of London policy "cover[ing] fraud."   

 

The Manual that Young distributed to FAs emphasized the portfolio's diversification and 

liquidity, stating that it held securities issued by "governments, well-known companies, 

multinationals and major international banks" and including pie charts showing the percentage 

holdings of the portfolio in different types of investments.  The Manual falsely stated that "in the 

case of unusually strong demand for withdrawals, [SIB] could liquidate all the securities 

sufficient to cover all withdrawals," that this "liquidity equals security" for CD investors, and 

that Antigua's "regulatory and compliance environment [was] equal to, or stronger than most 

international financial cent[e]rs."  

 The Manual repeated the misleading claims about SIB's "comprehensive insurance 

program" protecting its funds and coverage through Lloyd's of London.  It also disparaged the 

benefits of FDIC insurance, which it characterized as "relatively weak protection" because it 

covered "only up to $100,000 per client/account"; "covers only a minor portion of the deposits of 

all the banks that are insured"; and "does not make any bank safer, nor does it prevent the failure 

of any bank."10  Although Young knew that FAs were confused about the Bank's insurance 

coverage, he trained them to use the Manual to answer investor questions.11          

B. Young approved SGC's false and misleading disclosures without verification.  

 Young joined SGC as chief compliance officer in the fall of 2006, after almost two 

decades as a senior regulator with the NASD, including as director of its Dallas district office.12  

                                                           
9  Young argues that he should be credited for creating this disclaimer slide, but this same 

slide was used by SGC's prior chief compliance officer. 10
  The Manual also stated that the Bank 

qualified for the insurance policies by undergoing "an extensive risk management analysis by . . . 

an outside firm" to ensure that "reasonable care is routinely exercised in the protection of the 

Bank's assets" and that this analysis "provide[d] a further element of security for clients."   

10
  The Manual also stated that the Bank qualified for the insurance policies by undergoing 

"an extensive risk management analysis by . . . an outside firm" to ensure that "reasonable care is 

routinely exercised in the protection of the Bank's assets" and that this analysis "provide[d] a 

further element of security for clients."   

11  In late 2007, a compliance staffer, citing FA confusion about SIB's insurance coverage, 

copied Young on an e-mail proposing to delete from the Training Presentations, among other 

things, claims about insurance coverage.  Although Young omitted slides referencing the Bank's 

insurance policies during his next Training Presentation, he continued to distribute the Manual 

containing similar coverage claims, as did a subsequent presentation in which Young 

participated.      

12
  The NASD became FINRA in 2007.  See Order Granting Proposed Rule Change 

Relating to Restated Certificate of Incorporation of NASD, Exchange Act Release No. 56146, 
(continued…) 
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Young testified that he did not need to research SGC before accepting the position "because of 

[his] professional relationship with them spanning literally back to the beginning of [SGC]."    

 Young was aware of SGC's dependence on CD sales, given his involvement in a 2001 

NASD examination that focused on the CDs and SGC's marketing practices.13  He also 

acknowledged that before starting at SGC he knew about rumors that Stanford "had allegedly 

colluded with corrupt government officials to obtain financial favors."  These rumors persisted 

throughout Young's time at SGC, and Young testified that he was generally aware of news 

reports about Stanford's improper financial dealings in Antigua and his undue influence on its 

government.14  Young claimed to be unconcerned because he believed that, if such reports were 

true, Antigua "would have taken some action."  

 In addition to his duties as chief compliance officer, Young was designated as SGC's 

"due diligence officer" for the SIB portfolio.15  As he admitted at the hearing, he reviewed and 

approved the Firm's written marketing materials to verify whether the materials were "accurate in 

all regards" or misleading.  According to Young, if he discovered any misstatements or 

omissions, he was obligated "to discuss it with the people responsible for the document," i.e., the 

SFG legal department, the Bank, and "possibly outside counsel,"16 and "run it up the chain . . . all 

                                                           
 
(…continued) 

2007 WL 5185331, at *1 (July 26, 2007).  Young also held this position for certain SFG 

affiliates.  Before becoming its chief compliance officer, Young was a compliance consultant to 

the Firm.  Young was called a compliance manager until September or October 2006, when 

Young officially became chief compliance officer.   

13  Young testified that this exam resulted in a letter of caution. 

14  See, e.g., Antiguan PM accuses Texan billionaire of 'political interference', BBC 

MONITORING AMERICAS, Caribbean Media Corporation, Feb. 24, 2007 (quoting the Antiguan 

Prime Minister "saying he was tired of [Stanford's] 'threats, innuendos and now, downright 

political interference in our nation's affairs'"); Nick Hoult, Twenty20: Sir Allen Stanford, the 

cricketing high-roller who always gets his way, DAILY TELEGRAPH, May 7, 2008. 

15
  Although Young claims that he did not formally assume the due diligence officer title 

until after February 2007, he had due diligence responsibilities throughout his employment. 

16  As Young acknowledged at the hearing, he reviewed and concurred with the views 

expressed in an e-mail from outside counsel, Thomas Sjoblom, that emphasized SGC's 

obligation as a broker-dealer to conduct—and document—its own due diligence to ensure that 

the statements SGC used to market the CDs were "truthful and accurate."  Young also 

acknowledged these due diligence responsibilities in other internal communications, in letters to 

regulators, and during the hearing.  For instance, in 2008, Young approved an e-mail to other 

SGC officials explaining that SGC "had a fiduciary duty" to its clients and needed to ensure 

"proper due diligence" on its affiliates' products.  In 2008, he also sent a letter to a state regulator 

stating that as chief compliance officer, he "perform[ed] due diligence, analysis and oversight" of 

the SIB CDs and sales of the CDs.  Shortly before the scheme collapsed, Young assured the FAs 
(continued…) 
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the way up to Mr. Stanford, if necessary."17  Young acknowledged that he never asked counsel or 

anyone else about the accuracy or adequacy of the disclosures.   

 Young learned soon after his arrival at SGC that, despite his due diligence 

responsibilities, he could not verify various statements SGC and its personnel were making 

regarding SIB and the CDs, including disclosures regarding SIB's use of CD sales proceeds and 

the source of interest.  He tried to learn about SIB's portfolio from Jane Bates, an SFG 

compliance officer, and Lena Stinson, an SFG legal officer.18  He claims that they both told him 

that the portfolio was "subject to privacy rules" and that he was "never going to see it."  He 

testified further that he believed that four Antiguan statutes contained what he described vaguely 

as Antiguan "privacy laws" and "provisions for confidentiality of [SIB] information," that 

purportedly precluded verification of the Bank portfolio even by its affiliate SGC and SGC 

personnel.  At the hearing, Young did not specify who identified or explained the "privacy" 

provisions, and Young has never identified the provisions on which he purportedly relied.19  At 

the hearing, he failed to identify any such provisions—even after Division lawyers provided him 

a copy of his due diligence file and the Antiguan laws it contained.  Young claimed that he could 

not identify the relevant provisions "off the top of [his] head sitting here right now . . . ."20
    

                                                           
 
(…continued) 

that his due diligence covered "all material aspects of the" CDs, ensured "the integrity and 

transparency of [SIB]'s operations," and required "a reasonable review answering all the red 

flags." 

17  Although he denies involvement in drafting these marketing materials, which were 

created before he joined SGC, evidence indicates that he had input into changes to the Brochure 

and the Training Presentations during his tenure. 

18
  At the hearing, Young did not offer details from any other conversations with the legal or 

compliance officers about the portfolio, and none of those officials testified at the hearing.  Many 

of the senior officials who most directly orchestrated the Ponzi scheme and payments, along with 

counsel involved, have been criminally convicted or are subject to ongoing litigation.  See, e.g., 

United States v. Stanford, 09cr342 (S.D. Tex. Sept. 24, 2012) (SFG's chief investment officer 

pleaded guilty to obstructing an SEC investigation and sentenced to three years' imprisonment); 

United States v. Davis, 09cr335 (S.D. Tex. Jan. 22, 2014) (SFG and SIB's chief financial officer 

pleaded guilty to conspiracy to commit wire, mail and securities fraud, mail fraud, and 

conspiracy to obstruct an SEC investigation and sentenced to five years' imprisonment).   

19  During the hearing, the Division specifically asked Young about Section 32 of Antigua's 

Banking Act of 2005, labeled "[s]ecrecy of information," which limited disclosure of "the assets, 

liabilities, transactions or other information in respect of a depositor or customer of a financial 

institution."  Young initially claimed that this provision restricted verification of the SIB 

portfolio but eventually acknowledged that it limited disclosure about only "a depositor or a 

customer" and not the financial institution itself. 

20  Young also failed to identify such provisions in his pleadings or otherwise provide 
(continued…) 
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 Young testified that he conducted due diligence by meeting with the FSRC and with SIB 

officials in Antigua, but the evidence indicates that these meetings were perfunctory and 

provided no meaningful insight into SIB's operations or oversight.  For example, Young met 

briefly with Leroy King, head of the FSRC, early in Young's tenure in April 2007 and then again 

briefly in December 2008, immediately before the scheme's collapse.  At the first meeting, King 

gave Young an overview of FSRC regulation and, at the second meeting, King assured Young 

that SIB was "one of the safest banks" in Antigua.  But as Young admitted, he did not get 

information about the portfolio holdings from King and failed to ask King to explain the 

purported Antiguan limitations on SGC's access to such information.  Nor did he verify the CD 

investment portfolio's purported returns or holdings.  Although Young acknowledged that he 

knew that the portfolio was actually managed by SFG officials based in the United States, he 

neither sought relevant information from those officials, nor took any other reasonable steps to 

verify representations about the portfolio.21  Young also claimed to rely on Hewlett's audits and 

Antiguan laws requiring that the FRSC approve Hewlett as SIB's auditor, but admitted at the 

                                                           
 
(…continued) 

evidence, such as expert testimony, that Antiguan law prohibited any due diligence on the 

portfolio information as he claimed.  On appeal, Young claims that he relied on the same 

Antiguan law explanation that SFG affiliates gave Commission staff during its investigation and 

cites a Commission complaint as evidence that Stanford and King used Antiguan "bank secrecy 

laws" to withhold information from the Commission.  But the referenced complaint indicates that 

the purported bank secrecy laws were actually "inapplicable."  3:09-cv-298, doc. 952, paragraph 

91 (Jan. 8, 2010) ("Stanford and . . . others withheld information from the SEC, citing reliance on 

inapplicable bank secrecy laws in Antigua.").  At oral argument, Young claimed that he "offered 

to review with [the Division] the three other Antiguan laws addressing privacy" and that the 

Division "misquoted" him in suggesting that he was "hiding behind the Antiguan privacy law" 

that, according to the Division, he was unable to identify at his hearing.  But the hearing 

transcript flatly contradicts his claims.  The Division asked:  "Can you point to one of these acts 

or one of these other provisions in the other acts that you were pointed to as far as providing the 

secrecy of banks' portfolio information?" and Young replied "Not off the top of my head sitting 

here right now, no, unless we want to take a while to get there."  At no other point in the hearing 

or in his briefs did Young identify the Antiguan privacy laws on which he allegedly relied. 

21
  Young testified that he believed that the portfolio was managed by Laura Pendergest-Holt 

(SFG's chief investment officer) and James Davis (SFG and SIB's chief financial officer) through 

SFG's Memphis-based analysts.  There is no evidence that Young ever discussed the portfolio 

holdings or the disclosures at issue with Pendergest-Holt, Davis, or any of the Memphis-based 

analysts.  In March 2008, Young listened in on two separate conference calls with Davis, 

Pendergest-Holt, and others about how market turbulence was affecting the portfolio.  But 

Young testified that they did not discuss the "particulars of" the holdings in the portfolio during 

these calls, and Young apparently never asked these officials about those particulars.   
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hearing that he never once contacted Hewlett directly to discuss its auditing procedures, 

qualifications, or findings.   

The FAs assumed that the Marketing Materials had been verified by Young, and they 

used those materials to persuade SGC clients to invest in, and dissuade them from redeeming, the 

CDs.  One FA testified that he relied on the compliance department for verification because 

otherwise "that whole vetting process is an illusion."  Clients, in turn, relied on the accuracy of 

the assurances when purchasing and holding the CDs.  Investors testified that they understood 

that their FA was "representing he knew what was in the bank's portfolio" when he described its 

contents, which was important "[b]ecause if you don't know what's in the portfolio, you don't 

know where the return is coming from."22  According to another investor, the portfolio was "a 

very comprehensive program, worldwide, different investments, including currency trading."  

 

Investors also took comfort from the various assurances regarding the Bank's insurance 

policies.  One testified that she invested about $2 million after she "became convinced that [the 

CD] was safer than the stock market" because "it was paying a set rate and was backed by 

Lloyd's of London."  An FA testified that about 20 percent of his clients asked about SIB's 

insurance and whether it was "linked to the CD."  In response, the FA recited the Manual's 

insurance assurances "pretty much verbatim" because "this was a compliance-approved version 

of the message . . . ."  As an SGC MD indicated, he understood from the Training Presentations 

that the Bank's insurance "cover[ed] fraud" and that CD investors would be protected if SIB 

turned out to be a fraud, which is how he said FAs explained the insurance to clients. 

 

C. Young approved false and misleading assurances despite "red flags" about the CDs.  

 

 In November 2006, shortly after Young joined SGC, the Firm received a Commission 

subpoena seeking documentation of, among other things: SGC's due diligence, compensation 

policies, and training programs; the Bank's portfolio and insurance coverage; and Hewlett's 

audits.  Young was responsible for gathering responsive materials from SGC's due diligence 

files, which were under his control.  Throughout his employment, Young received similar 

indications of interest and concern from other regulators, as well as from SGC clients and FAs.  

Young, however, conducted no responsive investigation and, instead, consistently sought to 

dismiss and downplay the significance of those expressions of concern.     

   In February 2007, two clients wrote separately to SGC with concerns about SIB and the 

CDs (together, the "February Inquiries").  The first asked whether CD sales funded Allen 

Stanford's "Antiguan developments"—which was, in fact, how at least a portion of those funds 

were used—instead of the diversified and liquid portfolio touted in the Marketing Materials.  The 

investor also questioned the lack of regulatory protections "if something goes wrong with the 

[B]ank."   

 

                                                           
22  Another investor testified, "I fully expected [the FA] knew everything he needed to know 

about the banking business that I was doing." 
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 The second investor, who had consulted an independent CPA, raised similar concerns, 

including that the Bank's financials suggested "a dependence on new deposits and renewed 

certificates in order to continue paying investors the guaranteed CD interest and the principal of 

maturing CDs"—i.e., the cash flows characteristic of a Ponzi scheme.23  The investor also 

doubted that the CDs' consistently above-market CD interest rates could be reconciled with the 

claim that 55 percent of the portfolio was held in volatile global stock markets, which, as was 

noted, dropped 43 percent from 2001 to 2003.  The investor said he understood U.S. authorities 

had objected to Stanford's "unacceptable influence over" the FSRC, that Stanford allies had 

allegedly even "seized . . . banking records" from the Antiguan regulator, and that the FSRC was 

insufficiently staffed with only three examiners to oversee SIB's management of a multi-billion 

dollar portfolio.     

 

 Young directed the preparation of and approved responses to the February Inquiries 

(together, the "February Responses"), and the FAs and other SGC officials relied on his 

authorization before the FAs sent the February Responses to the SGC clients.  Young 

acknowledged that he did not investigate the investors' concerns but nevertheless authorized the 

February Responses dismissing them as meritless.24  His first response sought to discredit the 

inquiries as "misleading," "contain[ing] numerous misstatements," and merely "opinion, not 

fact."25  The second response disparaged the concerns as "dated, taken out of context, 

incompletely cited or supported, or just plain wrong," and reflecting "at best a lack of 

objectivity."  Neither of the February Responses mentioned the Bank's lack of transparency or 

Antiguan legal restrictions.  Rather than acknowledging SGC's inability to verify the portfolio, 

both responses created an illusion of openness by "strongly recommend[ing]" that the customers 

meet with "Stanford leadership that can speak in significant depth to any questions that you may 

have." 

  

 The February Responses sought to reassure the clients about the safety and oversight of 

SIB.  Both responses claimed that the Bank had followed a "prudent investment approach . . . for 

20 years" involving "global diversifi[cation]" that was more conservative than U.S. banks and 

ensured its ability to make the stated CD interest payments.  They falsely assured that "[t]here 

are insurance policies in place to indemnify in case of fraud and/or embezzlement," and 

identified SIB insurance policies, including two issued by Lloyd's of London, without disclosing 

                                                           
23  Young received a related e-mail from the SGC FA noting the concern "that the financials 

of the [B]ank are such that it may be a [P]onzi scheme." 

24  In an e-mail transmitting the second investor's communications, another SGC official 

stated that "we may want to attack this one similar to the last one."  Young was hostile to 

questions about Stanford's operations, admitting that he conducted an extensive investigation to 

build a case against former FAs who alleged impropriety at SGC and questioned their motives, 

asking: "What's their angle . . . . "? and "What ax do they have to grind . . . ."? 

25
  The first February Response also falsely claimed that funds deposited in SIB are "not 

invested in Stanford's Antiguan developments."  
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that those policies did not cover investors.  And, to counter charges of corruption, the responses 

portrayed Stanford's influence over Antiguan authorities in favorable terms, noting Stanford's 

"solid relationship" with the government and his "recent knighting."26   

 

D. Young approved further false assurances despite additional red flags.  

 When confronted with additional red flags following the February Inquiries, Young 

continued to approve responses that repeated similar unverified assurances concerning the safety 

of the portfolio.  On December 11, 2008, news broke about the massive Ponzi scheme Bernard 

Madoff operated through an investment adviser and broker-dealer27 which prompted increased 

concerns and questions about SIB.  Five days later, another SGC official, with Young's approval, 

sent an internal email providing "talking points" for sales staff to use "when fielding calls" from 

clients.  Despite the fact that neither Young nor anyone else had verified SIB’s holdings, the 

email encouraged the staff to reassure clients that SIB "had no exposure to CDOs, CMOs, [or] 

Structured Products, including those of Fairfield/Madoff."28  The e-mail encouraged FAs to 

repeat the portfolio and insurance assurances from the Training Presentations, and defended the 

"security and supervision" of the CDs by emphasizing SIB's "20+ year audited track record," 

annual FSRC examinations, and Lloyd's of London insurance.  

 Also during the fall and winter of 2008, outside securities firms raised further questions 

about the lack of portfolio transparency.  Pershing, LLC, SGC's clearing broker, and Snyder 

Kearney LLC, a professional due diligence firm, repeatedly sought information about the 

portfolio, and each curtailed or severed ties to SGC when the Firm failed to allay their concerns.  

Pershing was SGC's clearing broker from 2006 through December 2008.  Its clearing services 

focused on non-SIB securities held by SGC clients, for which Pershing executed transactions and 

processed account statements.  Pershing's involvement with the CDs was more limited, 

consisting mainly of executing wire transfers for CD purchases by SGC clients.   

 When Pershing sought to verify the portfolio, it was told that Antiguan law precluded 

such verification.  Pershing challenged that explanation by pointing out that such laws usually 

cover information about bank customers, not bank assets.  Beginning early in 2006 and for more 

                                                           
26

  The second response similarly stated that "Mr. Stanford was asked to serve in an advisory 

capacity to the Government of Antigua and Barbuda on the drafting of anti-money laundering 

and regulatory matters in respect of the financial services sector."  

27  See, e.g., SEC v. Bernard L. Madoff, Bernard L. Madoff Inv. Sec. LLC, 08-civ-10791 

(S.D.N.Y. Dec. 11, 2008) (complaint).   

28  CDOs, or collateralized debt obligations, are securities issued by a special purpose 

vehicle in tranches backed, or collateralized, by a portfolio of assets owned by the issuer.  

Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Inc., Exchange Act Release No. 71051, 2013 WL 

6503674, at *1 (Dec. 12, 2013) (settlement).  CMOs, or collateralized mortgage obligations, are 

"multiclass bond[s] backed by a pool of pass through securities or mortgage loans."  SEC 

Approves Amendments to CMO Advertising Guidelines:  Effective Immediately, NASD Notice to 

Members 93-85, 1993 WL 1434178, at *1 (Dec. 1993). 
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than two years, Pershing sought answers from SGC, its affiliates, and the FSRC, and tried but 

was prevented from meeting with Hewlett.  Pershing then tried, but failed, to convince SFG to 

engage another, independent accounting firm to verify the portfolio.  Eventually, in December 

2008, after all of its verification efforts failed, Pershing notified SGC that it would no longer 

wire funds for CD purchases. 

 Young was aware of Pershing's inquiries and the obstacles it faced.  In June 2007, a 

Pershing official asked Young for "a list of the [SIB portfolio's] investments and where they are 

held," and expressed surprise that such information was not in the Disclosure Statement.  In 

refusing this request, Young never acknowledged that he did not have the information or 

explained why it was unavailable even though, as a Pershing official testified, Young 

"understood . . . what we were asking and why."      

 Pershing's December 2008 decision coincided with an escalating liquidity crisis at the 

Firm (as CD interest and redemption payments exceeded incoming funds from new CD sales) 

and news reports about the Madoff fraud, and SGC had trouble explaining Pershing's decision 

without acknowledging its own inability to verify the portfolio.  Although Young was not 

directly involved in Pershing's third-party verification efforts, Young participated in the Firm's 

scheme to reassure the FAs by presenting a consistent and false explanation for Pershing's 

decision.  As part of this effort, Young approved and distributed a misleading e-mail attributing 

Pershing's decision to a "tax reporting" issue, stating that SGC was "very comfortable with [its] 

position from a legal and compliance standpoint," and omitting any mention of Pershing's 

frustrated efforts at portfolio verification.  Young forwarded the agreed-upon explanation (which 

had been drafted by other SGC personnel) to compliance staff and asked them to distribute the 

message "to [their] teams."29 

 Separately, Young arranged for SGC to retain Snyder in mid-2008 in connection with a 

planned SGC-sponsored fund offering to be managed by another Stanford affiliate.  Snyder was 

hired to conduct due diligence on a security other than the CDs, so its involvement with the CDs 

was indirect.  But after learning about SGC's financial dependence on SIB, Snyder focused on 

SIB's portfolio.  On December 16, 2008, Snyder sent Young a letter stating that it was resigning 

because, like Pershing, it was unable to get information about the portfolio that it deemed critical 

to its due diligence.  According to a Snyder officer, it was "looking for information that would 

show that the [B]ank was engaging [in] investments" that would make it possible to support and 

sustain the CD interest rates, and SIB's financial statements did not provide satisfactory detail.    

  Throughout late 2008, Young was aware of escalating scrutiny from various regulatory 

authorities, which included more than twenty open inquiries.  Regulators were asking about 

many of the same issues that had generated concern throughout Young's tenure, including SIB's 

portfolio and operations, the FSRC's oversight, and Hewlett's audits.  But rather than 

investigating these persistent concerns, Young continued to transmit misleading assurances.     

                                                           
29  SGC's president later transmitted this explanation to the Firm's operating committee, 

stating that it was "critical that we are all on the same page regarding the Pershing decision not to 

wire to SIB" and that management "give CONFIDENCE in dealing with these situations."   
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  In addition to the continuing investigation by Commission staff, both FINRA and the 

Louisiana Office of Financial Institutions ("OFI") sought information regarding the portfolio and 

whether SIB was subject to any meaningful independent oversight.30  FINRA asked SGC to 

provide documents confirming SIB's portfolio assets, allocations, and managers.31  In a similar 

effort "to verify the validity of" the CD, OFI asked for a summary of due diligence on SIB, 

including any efforts to verify the legitimacy of the CD and SIB's portfolio assets. 

 Young sent a response to OFI that was consistent with his efforts to deflect similar 

inquiries from other regulators, FAs, securities professionals, and investors.  Although OFI asked 

about any efforts to verify the portfolio and Young acknowledged that he had due diligence 

responsibilities, Young failed to mention that he was unable to and had not tried to ascertain the 

actual contents of SIB’s portfolio. 

 After the Madoff Ponzi scheme was exposed and investor concerns and regulatory 

inquiries intensified and SGC's financial situation worsened, Young joined other SGC officials in 

a "roadshow" to reassure anxious personnel at each of SGC's branch offices.  As an SGC official 

testified, FAs had finally learned that SGC did not "have insight into the portfolio" and that SIB 

"had close to a billion dollars of net outflows" in the previous quarter.  According to this official, 

one of the roadshow's purposes was to describe "controls and safeguards" and "oversight . . . 

over the investment portfolio" to instill "confidence this wasn't a Ponzi scheme like Madoff."  

 During the roadshow, Young admitted that he had not "seen the portfolio of the Bank," 

but still tried to reassure the FAs that his due diligence ensured "the integrity and transparency of 

[SIB]'s operations" and covered "all material aspects" of the CDs.  Young further reassured the 

FAs that the FSRC was a "strict" and "independent regulator" (i.e., not Stanford's "puppet") that 

assessed SIB's "risk and [its] ability" to meet its financial obligations and reviewed and approved 

the Bank's auditor.  Days after the last roadshow presentation, on February 16, 2009, the scheme, 

along with SGC, SIB, and their affiliates, collapsed and were placed into receivership.    

II.  Initial Decision 

 The law judge found Young and two other Firm officials liable after a fifteen-day hearing 

that included testimony from twenty-six witnesses.  The law judge held that the respondents 

defrauded SGC's clients through "clearly false" statements about the portfolio, as well as 

misleading reassurances about insurance which, even if "literally true," were used "to mislead 

investors into thinking they were protected."  Young alone appealed.32      

                                                           
30  Young also learned, in the fall of 2008, that Florida officials were contacting SGC clients 

to investigate the Firm's $58.5 million in CD sales in that state.  

31
  Evidence indicates that Young was not forthcoming in responding to FINRA's inquiry. 

Young also knew that, in January 2009, FINRA made unannounced visits to five branch offices 

and seized SGC hard drives.  

32  The initial decision is final as to the other respondents.  See Daniel Bogar and Jason T. 

Green, Exchange Act Release No. 71123, 2013 WL 6665228 (Dec. 18, 2013).   



15 

 

 The law judge found that Young was "at least negligent in allowing the use of marketing 

material that promised depositor security on the basis of facts about SIB's portfolio that could not 

be verified and on the basis of a discussion of insurance that [he] knew had no relevance to 

depositor security but that might confuse a potential investor into thinking that it did."  The law 

judge further held Young liable for fraudulent communications intended to counter increasing 

concerns about SIB.  The law judge found that, "[r]ather than investigate the possible 

truthfulness of these charges," Young acted with scienter when he "attack[ed]" them, making 

"representations" about the portfolio "that could not be verified" and misleadingly assuring the 

clients that there was insurance "to indemnify in case of fraud and/or embezzlement."   

III.  Analysis 

 It is undisputed, and the evidence establishes, that SGC participated in a massive 

fraudulent scheme that caused substantial investor losses.  As discussed, SGC FAs promoted the 

CDs to investors by distributing the Disclosure Statement and Brochure and reciting assurances 

from the Manual and Training Presentations.  These written and oral statements consistently and 

falsely assured investors that SIB's portfolio consisted of diversified and liquid holdings which 

suggested the safety of the CDs and that, if asked, SIB was willing to provide further information 

about its finances.  Moreover, as Young acknowledged at the hearing, these materials gave no 

hint of the Antiguan legal restrictions that purportedly precluded any verification—by investors, 

U.S. regulators, or SGC's own due diligence personnel who approved the use of the materials—

of the contents of the portfolio.  And there is no evidence that SGC or the FAs made any effort to 

disclose these verification restrictions when promoting the CDs.  SGC also consistently used 

these materials to encourage investors to rely on SIB's private insurance policies as a key safety 

feature of the investment, even though these policies did not, as Young knew, cover CD 

investors.   

 Young does not challenge most of the relevant facts about SGC's promotion of the CDs.  

Instead, he disputes his liability primarily by claiming that he reasonably carried out his 

compliance and due diligence responsibilities in good-faith reliance on SFG officials, outside 

professionals, and regulators.  But the evidence shows that Young approved material 

misrepresentations without verifying them or establishing any reasonable or independent basis 

for relying on verification by others.  Then, despite his awareness of ever-increasing red flags, he 

approved additional misleading statements to placate concerns, prevent redemptions, and 

encourage further sales.   

 As an investment adviser, SGC had fiduciary duties of "utmost good faith, and full and 

fair disclosure of all material facts" and "to employ reasonable care to avoid misleading [its] 

clients."33  Young, through his association with SGC and because of the due diligence and related 

responsibilities he undertook at the Firm, shared those duties, but failed to carry them out.34   

                                                           
33

  SEC v. Capital Gains Research Bureau, Inc., 375 U.S. 180, 194 (1963); see also 

Transamerica Mortg. Advisers, Inc. v. Lewis, 444 U.S. 11, 17 (1979) (stating that the Advisers 

Act was enacted "to impose enforceable fiduciary obligations" on investment advisers).  

34  See, e.g., Sherwin Brown, Advisers Act Release No. 3217, 2011 WL 2433279, at *6 
(continued…) 
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A. Young violated the Advisers Act by causing SGC's violation of Advisers Act Section 

206(2) with respect to the Marketing Materials. 

 

A respondent is a cause of a securities law violation under Advisers Act Section 

203(k)(1) if a primary violation occurred; the respondent engaged in an act or omission that 

contributed to the violation; and the respondent knew, or should have known, that his conduct 

would contribute to the violation.35  Negligence is sufficient to establish causing liability where 

the underlying primary violation does not require scienter.36 

 

1. SGC violated Advisers Act Section 206(2). 

 Advisers Act Section 206(2) makes it unlawful for investment advisers to "engage in any 

transaction, practice or course of business which operates as a fraud or deceit upon any client or 

any prospective client."37  Negligence, or a failure to exercise due care, is sufficient to establish a 

violation of Section 206(2).38  We find that SGC engaged in a practice and course of business 

that operated as a fraud or deceit upon its clients by using the Disclosure Statement and 

Brochure, which contained material misstatements about SIB's portfolio and insurance coverage.    

                                                           
 
(…continued) 

(June 17, 2011) ("Investment advisers and their associated persons have a fiduciary duty to their 

clients."); In re Fundamental Portfolio Advisors, Inc., Advisers Act Release No. 2146, 2003 WL 

21658248, at *15 (July 15, 2003) (holding that associated persons are fiduciaries held to the 

"affirmative duty of utmost good faith, and full and fair disclosure of all material facts"); see also 

SEC v. DiBella, 587 F.3d 553, 565 (2d Cir. 2009) (explaining that a fiduciary has an "obligation 

to verify facts relevant to prudent investment on behalf of those who did not possess the 

information"). 

35  15 U.S.C. § 203(k)(1); see also Gregory M. Dearlove, Exchange Act Release No. 57244, 

2008 WL 281105, at *31 (Jan. 31, 2008), petition denied, 573 F.3d 801 (D.C. Cir. 2009); Eric J. 

Brown, Advisers Act Release No. 3376, 2012 WL 625874, at *10 n.16 (Feb. 27, 2012), petition 

denied sub nom., SEC v. Collins, 736 F.3d 521 (D.C. Cir. 2013).  

36  Joseph John VanCook, Exchange Act Release No. 61039A, 2009 WL 4026291, at *14 

n.65 (citing KMPG Peat Marwick LLP, Exchange Act Release No. 43862, 2001 WL 47245, at 

*19 (Jan. 19, 2001), petition denied, 289 F.3d 109 (D.C. Cir. 2002)).   

37  15 U.S.C. § 80b-6(2).     

38
   See Capital Gains, 375 U.S. at 200 ("Failure to disclose material facts must be deemed 

fraud or deceit within [the Adviser's Act's] intended meaning, . . . To impose . . . the burden of 

showing deliberate dishonesty . . . would effectively nullify the protective purposes of the 

statute."); DiBella, 587 F.3d at 569 (stating that § 206(2) covers "negligent acts" and "any 

transaction that functions or otherwise results in a fraud"). 



17 

 

 The Marketing Materials evidence a practice and course of business that operated as a 

fraud.  They contained false statements and omissions about the portfolio that were used to 

convince investors of the safety and liquidity of the CDs.  The Marketing Materials included 

detailed—but unverified and false—claims about the portfolio's holdings.39  The Disclosure 

Statement cultivated an illusion of transparency by falsely assuring investors that they could 

"obtain such additional information as [they] may request concerning the [CDs] and SIB's 

financial condition and affairs."  These portfolio claims and omissions were material because 

there is a substantial likelihood that accurate and complete disclosure would have been viewed 

by the reasonable investor as having significantly altered the total mix of information about the 

CDs.   

 The representations in the Marketing Materials about SIB's "comprehensive insurance 

program" were materially misleading and operated as a fraud on SGC's clients because they 

failed to say that the insurance policies did not protect the CD investors.40  The Marketing 

Materials suggested that the investments were protected in a manner similar to bank depositor 

insurance by: appropriating the familiar terminology of more conventional bank product 

safeguards (including the terms "depositors," "deposits," and "withdrawals"); comparing the SIB 

CD rates and performance to U.S. bank CDs that had FDIC protections (which, according to the 

Manual, was relatively weak); and characterizing SIB's insurance as comprehensive and a source 

of investor safety.  SGC misled its clients by citing these insurance statements to deflect investor 

concerns, and continued this emphasis after it was aware that such statements fostered confusion 

even among its own FAs about whether the policies covered CD investors.41 

 Young argues that SIB's insurance claims were not misleading because, among other 

things, the Disclosure Statement and Brochure included disclaimers stating that the CDs and 
                                                           
39 See, e.g., SEC v. Smart, 678 F.3d 850, 857 (10th Cir. 2012) ("[I]t would be material to a 

reasonable investor that his or her money was not being used as represented in safe investment 

strategies, but rather, in high risk ventures and for the payment of personal expenses."). 

40  See SEC v. First Am. Bank & Trust Co., 481 F.2d 673, 678 (8th Cir. 1973) (when an 

issuer described itself as a "banking institution" and compared itself to a bank, its statement that 

it was "bonded and insured by major insurance companies" was a material misleading 

misrepresentation under § 17(a) because, even if "literally true" it was "susceptible to . . . 

interpretation by the reasonable investor . . .  that the deposits were insured by the FDIC"). 

41
  Young argues that the law judge's finding that some of the insurance disclosure was 

"literally true" precludes liability for insurance related disclosures.  Based on our de novo review 

of the record, we do not find persuasive evidence in the record that the descriptions of SIB's 

insurance policy coverage were "literally true."  In any event, we find ample support for the law 

judge's finding that the insurance claims were misleading (even if literally true) because they 

were used to convince investors that the insurance provided "depositor security."  It is well 

settled that a literally true statement may nevertheless be fraudulent based on the context in 

which that statement is made.  See Kleinman v. Elan Cor., plc, 706 F.3d 145, 153 (2d Cir. 2013) 

("Statements of literal truth 'can become, through their context and manner of presentation, 

devices which mislead investors' . . . ." (internal citations omitted)).          
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deposits were not protected by FDIC, SIPC or other government insurance policies.42  But as the 

confusion of the FAs confirmed, none of these disclaimers was specific or clear enough to satisfy 

SGC's fiduciary obligations to provide complete and non-misleading information.  The detailed 

and consistent emphasis on insurance in the Marketing Materials fostered the unmistakable 

impression that these policies somehow protected investors, and the disclaimers were inadequate 

to counter this misleading impression.43  Having chosen to use materials that extensively 

discussed insurance, SGC had a duty to fully and fairly disclose its significance by, at least, 

clearly explaining how these policies benefitted investors when none of them covered the CDs.44
  

 Although the Disclosure Statement lists multiple insurance policies held by SIB, Young 

asserts that this disclosure is not misleading because it ends by including the following limiting 

language: "[t]he latter insurance protects us against the possible insolvency of other financial 

institutions . . . This insurance does not insure customer deposits and is not the equivalent of 

FDIC insurance offered on deposits at many institutions in the United States" (emphasis added).  

The  reference to "this insurance" is ambiguous because it could apply to either all of the SIB 

private insurance policies described in the paragraph, or solely to the "excess FDIC and 

Depository Insolvency insurance" described in the immediately preceding sentence.  We find 

that the latter interpretation more reasonable to an investor who receives this document as 

marketing for the CDs, because there would be no reason for describing SIB’s insurance policies 

in a detailed manner, if in fact those investors were not covered by any of those policies.   

Young suggests that these insurance policy descriptions were included in the Disclosure 

Statement because the insurers purportedly protected investors by providing oversight of SIB's 

operations.  But this explanation does not make sense:  the Disclosure Statement itself does not 

mention such oversight.45  As the investor testimony confirmed, investors believed that the 

detailed insurance policy descriptions meant that the insurance policies identified in the 

Disclosure Statement covered CD purchasers.    

                                                           
42  Young also claims that it was not misleading to call SIB's insurance comprehensive 

because "comprehensive" auto insurance can offer limited coverage.  This analogy is fallacious.  

Even if some types of automobile damage are not covered by such policies, there is no doubt that 

purchasers of auto insurance are, unlike the CD investors, actually insured. 

43
  See In re Time Warner Inc. Sec. Litig., 9 F.3d 259, 268 (2d Cir. 1993) ("A duty to 

disclose arises whenever secret information renders prior public statements materially 

misleading, not merely when that information completely negates the public statements."); 

Dolphin & Bradbury, Inc. v. SEC, 512 F.3d 634, 640 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (noting that "cautionary 

statements were so deficient [respondent] must have known investors would be misled by the 

offering documents").  

44  Cf. Meyer v. Jinkosolar Holdings Co., Ltd., 761 F.3d 245, 250 (2d Cir. 2014) ("Even 

when there is no existing independent duty to disclose information, once a company speaks on an 

issue or topic, there is a duty to tell the whole truth."). 

45
  Nor does he offer evidence that the insurers actually provided such oversight.  
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 Young points to other disclaimers stating that the CDs were not protected by FDIC or 

government-issued insurance, but, as he conceded, they did not address the multiple private 

insurance policies or explain that those policies did not cover CD investors.   

2. Young engaged in conduct that he knew or should have known would 

contribute to SGC's Advisers Act Section 206(2) violation. 

 Young's acts and omissions contributed to the distribution of misleading disclosures to 

SGC's clients, including (as part of his due diligence responsibilities) his vetting of the CDs and 

his review and approval of the Disclosure Statement and Brochure for use by the FAs.  He 

further ensured that misleading disclosures would reach SGC's clients when he distributed the 

Manual and participated in the Training Presentations.  Moreover, during the Training 

Presentations, Young directed the FAs to provide the Disclosure Statement to each potential 

investor, distributed and presented other materials that reinforced and elaborated on the 

fraudulent assurances it contained, and encouraged the FAs to repeat these assurances to 

investors.46  

 That Young was at least negligent is established by, among other things, his unjustifiable 

acceptance of SIB's lack of transparency.  The fact that SFG officials repeatedly and consistently 

told him that he was "never going to see the portfolio" that purportedly produced remarkable 

returns is precisely the kind of unusual circumstance that requires thorough and independent 

investigation because the "darkness and ignorance of commercial secrecy are the conditions 

upon which predatory practices best thrive."47  Rather than investigating, Young relied on vague 

references to unspecified Antiguan laws.  But "[w]hen the facts known to a person place him on 

notice of a risk" of fraud "he cannot ignore the facts and plead ignorance of the risk."48  Even if 

Young believed that the lack of transparency was a consequence of Antiguan law, he acted 

unreasonably when he approved unqualified assurances about the portfolio and the supposed 

willingness of Bank officials to answer investor questions.   

                                                           
46

  Young claims that he was "not the author of the slides which discussed the financial 

strength of SIB" or the "supervisory principal in charge of conducting sales training."  But 

internal e-mails and other evidence show, among other things, that he personally presented the 

February 2008 Training Presentation which described the portfolio as the source of returns on the 

CDs.  At oral argument, Young asserted that the staff was "unable to produce one witness that 

testified that I trained him regarding the SIB product" or that Young "was even there . . . when 

they were trained."  But Young acknowledged at the hearing that he assumed responsibility for 

training in 2007 and internal e-mails confirm that he either led or played a central role in 

Training Presentations on at least two occasions in 2008.    

47  Capital Gains, 375 U.S. at 200. 

48  Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd. v. Tellabs Inc., 513 F.3d 702, 704 (7th Cir. 2008).  
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 While not denying Stanford's fraud, Young claims that he was unaware of it during his 

time at SGC.49  He defends his conduct by arguing that the fraudulent scheme pre-dated his 

arrival at SGC and that he was merely repeating false statements that were originally formulated 

by others.  But Section 203(k)(1) covers actions and omissions that "contribute" to the fraud.50  It 

is clear that SGC clients continued to be defrauded after Young approved the use of the 

Marketing Materials, and that Young—by failing to carry out his due diligence responsibilities 

with respect to those materials and by encouraging the FAs to repeat the misrepresentations—

contributed to SGC's continuing violations.  

 Young also claims that he conducted "extensive due diligence" and reasonably relied on 

the verification and approval by SFG, SIB and SGC personnel, their auditors and counsel, and 

outside regulators.  These claims are belied by the record.  For example, Young acknowledged 

during the hearing that he never asked U.S.-based SFG officials who purportedly managed the 

portfolio, Hewlett, or the FSRC to confirm the accuracy of the pertinent disclosures.  Young 

accepted without question that any portfolio verification was completely precluded by Antiguan 

law, knew that this lack of verification was not disclosed to investors, and made no effort to 

require such disclosure or question the omission.  Nor did Young make reasonable efforts to 

understand the scope or operation of those purported Antiguan restrictions, such as why the 

restrictions applied to SGC, an SIB affiliate.51   

 Young also had no reasonable basis for approving the misstatements and omissions about 

how SIB's insurance provided "depositor security" because he knew that the insurance did not 

cover investors.  As he acknowledged, he never contacted insurance company officials or other 

independent sources concerning the insurance disclosures.  Young claims that he should not be 

held liable for disclosures in the Marketing Materials written and approved by others before he 

started at SGC because he "developed his own" Training Presentation slides stating that the CDs 
                                                           
49  Young claims an FBI agent testified that he had no knowledge of the Stanford scheme 

and could not have done anything to uncover or prevent it.   The agent's testimony did not 

address the fraudulent or misleading statements that are the bases for holding Young liable for 

securities fraud; his liability does not turn on whether he could have uncovered the Stanford 

scheme.   The agent also offered no testimony about Young's state of mind or due diligence 

efforts.  As such, she did not have occasion to, and did not, exonerate Young.  Young also 

asserted at oral argument that a Division lawyer told his lawyer that Young was unaware of 

"what was happening" at SIB.  He provides no support for this claim and, in any event, our 

finding of liability is not dependent on a determination that Young was aware of the entirety of 

Stanford's scheme.     

50  15 U.S.C. § 80b-3(k)(1).  The law judge found that Young did not aid and abet the 

drafting of the Disclosure Statement and Brochure, and this finding was not appealed.  

51
  As the Supreme Court recently explained, "[i]n the context of the securities market, an 

investor, though recognizing that legal opinions can prove wrong in the end, still likely expects" 

a legal conclusion "to rest on some meaningful legal inquiry" and to "fairly align[]" with the 

available facts at the time.  Omnicare, Inc. v. Laborers Dist. Council Const. Indus. Pension 

Fund, 135 S. Ct. 1318, 1328 & 1329 (2015). 
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were "Not Insured," could not be "compared equally with U.S. CDs," and had "Major 

differences" with U.S. CDs.  The inclusion of those boilerplate disclaimers were not sufficient to 

overcome the other specific misstatements in the Training Presentations Young approved and co-

presented, including a slide saying that a Lloyd's of London policy "cover[ed] fraud" and that led 

FAs to conclude that the insurance protected investors from fraud.
52

  When Young gave these 

presentations, he knew or should have known that the FAs were confused about coverage. 

 Young claims that he "believed that the reviews of the portfolio by [Hewlett] and the 

[FSRC] in Antigua overcame the 'lack of transparency'" because neither "expressed any 

concern."  But Young's own testimony and due diligence records confirm that he had no contact 

with Hewlett and that his interaction with the FSRC was perfunctory and provided no basis for 

accepting SIB's statements about the portfolio.53  Although Young now claims that he "had no 

reason to question King's representations," during the hearing he acknowledged his awareness of 

persistent allegations of Antiguan corruption and doubts about the FSRC's independence.54 

Similarly unpersuasive is Young's asserted reliance on legal counsel, such as Sjoblom, 

who purportedly reviewed CD "sales-practice issues" in 2005 before Young joined SGC.  There 

is no evidence that, as Young claims, Sjoblom or other lawyers "represented" or "assured" him 

that the disclosures about the portfolio or insurance or SIB's willingness to answer questions 

were appropriate or that there were "no CD sales practice issues."  Nor is there any evidence that, 

as Young suggests, lawyers explained how "Antiguan privacy law prevented [h]im from gaining 

access to the information he had requested."55  Indeed, when Young testified, he failed to 

                                                           
52  Contrary to his claim that he personally developed disclaimer slides to address any 

confusion, those slides were used by SGC's previous chief compliance officer.  See supra note 9 

(explaining that Young did not create the disclaimer slides) and note 11 (describing attempts by a 

compliance staffer to make other modifications to the training slides to address FA confusion 

about insurance). 

53  See World Trade Fin. Corp. v. SEC, 739 F.3d 1243, 1249 (9th Cir. 2014) (rejecting 

reliance claim and stating that "brokers rely on third-parties at their own peril, and will not avoid 

liability through that reliance when the duty of reasonable inquiry rests with the brokers"). 

54
  During the hearing he confirmed that he approached these meetings with skepticism, 

notwithstanding that during the roadshow, he tried to counter concerns that the FSRC was 

Stanford's "puppet." 

55
  In support of his claim of reasonable reliance, Young points to Stanford's retention of 

various prominent law firms (including Chadbourne & Park, where Sjoblom was a partner) and 

to Sjoblom's regulatory experience.  Stanford's retention of those firms is not evidence of 

Young's reliance, because Young has failed to identify specific communications he had with 

counsel at those firms.   SEC v. McNamee, 481 F.3d 451, 456 (7th Cir. 2007) ("It isn't possible to 

make out an advice-of-counsel defense without producing the actual advice from an actual 

lawyer"). 
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describe any such representations or assurances and acknowledged that he never asked counsel 

about the accuracy or adequacy of the disclosures.56  

Young further contends that it was reasonable for him to accept the existence and 

applicability of the purported Antiguan transparency restrictions because Sjoblom's 2005 

response to Commission staff inquiries referred to Antiguan restrictions on providing 

information, and SFG officials accepted Sjoblom's interpretation.  But such assertions, if made, 

would not have constituted a reasonable basis for unquestioning reliance because Young knew 

that the Commission, other regulators, and firms with which he dealt continued to question SIB's 

lack of transparency and SGC's due diligence.57   

 In addition, Young claims that he was entitled to rely on 2004 Commission examinations 

and examinations by NASD and other state regulators that did not identify the violative conduct 

at issue.  But it is well established that regulatory oversight and involvement does not excuse 

misconduct.58  Nor is there merit to Young's claim that it was reasonable for him to fail to 

investigate the portfolio because of an October 2004 letter from an SGC compliance officer to 

Commission staff stating that SGC did not have access to a list of SIB's portfolio holdings.  In 

fact, Young knew that, rather than accepting this response, Commission staff followed up with 

more questions about the SIB portfolio in December 2004,59 March 2005, and September 2005, 

                                                           
56

  Young contends erroneously that any finding of liability is precluded by the law judge's 

finding that "Respondents did not provide input into the language of disclosure and marketing 

materials, and believed that in-house and outside counsel had approved the disclosure and 

marketing materials and the manner in which SGC and SIB were doing business."  We agree 

with the law judge that even if Young did not originally draft the fraudulent disclosure and had 

such a subjective belief, his actions were still unreasonable because he knew of facts that made 

the portfolio and insurance disclosures misleading.   

57
  On appeal, Young purports to quote from a September 2005 letter from Sjoblom to the 

Commission staff to the effect that "there are certain provisions under the laws of Antigua and 

Barbuda (the violations of which can result in harsh consequences) which prohibit SIB from 

providing you with all the documentary information you currently request."  This September 

2005 letter is not in the record and Young did not testify about it at the hearing.  In any event, the 

letter was a response to a regulatory inquiry; it did not address whether the referenced 

restrictions applied equally to SGC, an SIB affiliate.    

58  See, e.g., William H. Gerhauser, Sr., Exchange Act Release No. 40639, 1998 WL 

767091, at *4 (Nov. 4, 1998) (stating that a regulator's "failure to take early action neither 

operates as an estoppel against later action nor cures a violation").  Moreover, Young knew that 

regulatory inquiries and examinations were ongoing.   

59  In the December 2004 letter, the staff asked for "an explanation of why you do not have 

access to the requested information, given the fact that SIB and SGC are under common 

ownership and control."  In response, SGC described "information barriers to isolate and prevent 

the improper flow of information and avoid any potential conflicts of interest," but made no 

mention of Antiguan bank secrecy requirements.   
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and sent a subpoena in November 2006.  Young also knew that other regulators continued to 

seek this information during his tenure. 

   As support for his reliance claim, Young cites Howard v. SEC, where a salesperson was 

found to have relied, in good faith, on the advice of counsel about compliance with an 

ambiguous legal rule.60  Howard is inapposite: unlike in this case, the violation in that case was 

not evident to Howard; Howard was a salesperson, who, unlike Young, had not assumed 

responsibility for due diligence on behalf of his firm; and, in contrast to Young, Howard 

encountered "green" rather than red flags regarding the violation.  Also inapposite are the other 

cases Young cites to claim reasonable reliance.  None of the cases Young cites found reasonable 

reliance despite comparable due diligence responsibilities, clearly fraudulent statements, or 

approvals despite known but unaddressed red flags. 61
  

 Young contends that it is unfair to hold him liable because doing so puts chief 

compliance officers "in the role of guarantor of the actions of" salespersons and "others within 
                                                           
60

  376 F.3d 1136, 1143 (D.C. Cir. 2000) (finding "the evidence showed that Howard was 

not aware, generally or otherwise, of any wrongdoing").  Reliance is unreasonable when, as here, 

the respondent has a duty to investigate, encounters increasing warning signs without asking 

reasonable questions, and repeatedly authorizes statements downplaying concerns.  See Graham 

v. SEC, 222 F.3d 994, 1006 (D.C. Cir. 2000) (finding extreme recklessness despite compliance 

approvals); see Brendan E. Murray, Initial Decision Release No. 332, 2007 WL 1988449, at *12 

(July 10, 2007), aff'd, Exchange Act Release No. 28519, 2008 WL 4964110, at *6 (Nov. 21, 

2008) (explaining that following instructions is not a defense to obviously fraudulent conduct); 

Charles K. Seavey, Initial Decision Release No. 200, 2002 WL 238500, at *14 (Feb. 20, 2002), 

aff'd, Advisers Act Release No. 2119, 2003 WL 1561440 (Mar. 27, 2003) (rejecting reliance 

defense despite consultation of counsel).   

61   For example, in Charles C. Carlson, we found that a salesman's reliance on advice 

regarding a legal question mitigated the seriousness of his misconduct, but the salesman in that 

case sought advice from multiple sources, including a lawyer.  Admin. Proc. File No. 3-5018, 

1866 SEC LEXIS 162 (Mar. 28, 1977) (finding that salesman actively sought and reasonably 

relied on advice), rev'g in part and aff'g in part on other grounds, Exchange Act Release No. 

14246, 46 SEC 1125, 1132 (Dec. 12, 1977).  In Kingsley, Jennison, McNulty & Morse Inc., the 

Commission found that a respondent's good faith precluded a finding of recklessness, but this 

finding was based on the respondent's "testimony and . . . demeanor" establishing a genuine good 

faith belief that the violative conduct was lawful and beneficial to clients.  Advisers Act Release 

No. 1396, 1993 WL 538935, at *4 n.28 (Dec. 23, 1993).  Such facts are not present with respect 

to Young.  

 The Commission has declined in some cases to find liability despite the presence of red 

flags, but, the respondents in those cases, unlike Young, investigated and took other appropriate 

responsive action.  For instance, in James Arthur Huff, the Commission declined to find a 

supervisory failure, but in that case the respondent conducted his own independent investigation 

when he encountered indications of wrongdoing and recommended responsive personnel action.  

Exchange Act Release No. 29017, 1991 WL 296561, at *4 (Mar. 28, 1991).     
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and outside of their organization" which, he claims, would "create havoc in the compliance 

world."  A compliance role does not preclude liability where the respondent engages in conduct 

that "otherwise violate[s] the securities laws or aid[s] and abet[s] or cause[s] a violation."62   

Young cites several cases in which compliance, legal or other officials were not found liable for 

violations by their firms or associated persons.  But those cases do not undermine the well-

established principle that the reasonableness of any respondent's actions depends on the facts and 

circumstances presented and we have held chief compliance officers liable for violative conduct 

in a variety of circumstances.
63

  The record here clearly establishes that Young failed to make 

reasonable efforts to fulfill the responsibilities he voluntarily undertook.  It is this evidence of 

Young's actions and failures to act, not his designation as chief compliance officer, that is the 

basis for his liability. 

                                                           
62

  See Frequently Asked Questions about Liability of Compliance and Legal Personnel at 

Broker-Dealers under Sections 15(b)(4) and 15(b)(6) of the Exchange Act (Sept. 30, 2013) 

("Failure to Supervise FAQs"), at n.1, available at http://www.sec.gov/divisions/marketreg/faq-

cco-supervision-093013.htm (last checked Oct. 22, 2015). 

 Young cites Scott G. Monson where, in dismissing proceedings against the general 

counsel of a broker-dealer, we expressed concern about the potential for improper "interference 

with lawyers' ability to provide unbiased, independent legal advice regarding the securities 

laws."  Investment Company Act Release No. 28323, 2008 WL 2574441, at *5 (June 30, 2008).  

But we found that Monson was not liable because the relevant violations were not within the 

purview of his responsibilities.  Here, by contrast, it is undisputed that Young was responsible 

for reviewing the accuracy of the disclosures and conducting due diligence.  Moreover, we 

emphasized in Monson that we will "pursue cases against lawyers who," among other things 

"engage in conduct that would render a non-lawyer liable for the same activity under comparable 

circumstances."  Id. at *5.   

63   See, e.g., Robert Marcus Lane, Exchange Act Release No. 74269, 2015 WL 627346 

(Feb. 13, 2015) (finding chief compliance officer failed to reasonably supervise a trader who 

engaged in fraudulent trading); Koch, 2014 WL 1998524 (finding chief compliance officer 

violated antifraud provisions); vFinance Invs., Inc., Exchange Act Release No. 62448, 2010 WL 

2674858 (July 2, 2010) (finding chief compliance officer aided and abetted books and records 

violations).  We further note that the precedent Young cites includes initial decisions of 

administrative law judges, which are not recognized as binding.  See Rapoport v. SEC, 682 F.3d 

98, 105 (D.C. Cir. 2012) ("not consider[ing]" order issued by law judge because it was "not a 

binding Commission decision"); Absolute Potential, Inc., Exchange Act Release No. 71866 

(Apr. 4, 2014), 2014 WL 1338256, at *8 n.48 ("We are not bound by a law judge's initial 

decision"). 
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B.  Young violated Exchange Act Section 10(b), Exchange Act Rule 10b-5 and 

 Securities Act Section 17(a); and he aided and abetted and caused SGC's violations 

 of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5, Exchange Act Section 15(c)(1), and Advisers Act 

 Sections 206(1) and (2). 

In addition to causing SGC's violation of Section 206(2), Young also committed his own 

primary violations of Exchange Act Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 and Securities Act Section 

17(a).  Young also aided and abetted and caused SGC's violations of Exchange Act Section 10(b) 

and Rule 10b-5, Exchange Act Section 15(c)(1), and Advisers Act Sections 206(1) and 206(2).   

1. Young committed primary violations of antifraud provisions. 

Exchange Act Section 10(b) makes it "unlawful for any person directly or indirectly . . . 

to use or employ, in connection with the purchase or sale of any security . . . any manipulative or 

deceptive device or contrivance in contravention of" Commission rules.64  Rule 10b-5 

implements the Commission's Section 10(b) authority through three mutually supporting 

subsections.  Rule 10b-5(a) prohibits "any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud"; Rule 10b-5(b) 

prohibits "mak[ing] any untrue statement of a material fact or [omitting] to state a material fact 

necessary in order to make the statements made . . . not misleading"; and Rule 10b-5(c) prohibits 

"any act, practice, or course of business which operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit 

upon any person."  Liability under each subsection requires a showing of scienter,65 which can be 

established through recklessness.66     

By directing the preparation of, approving, and distributing false and misleading 

statements about CDs, Young violated Exchange Act Section 10(b) and Exchange Act Rules 

10b-5(a) and (c), as well as Securities Act Sections 17(a)(1) and (3), which largely track Rule 

10b-5(a) and (c).67  These statements included SGC's responses to client inquiries that dismissed 

                                                           
64  Section 10(b) applies to fraudulent conduct "in connection with the purchase or sale of 

any security."  This element is satisfied because SGC continued to offer and sell the CDs until its 

collapse and the violations reflect SGC's efforts to downplay and misrepresent the risks 

associated with these transactions.  See, e.g., SEC v. Zandford, 535 U.S. 813, 822 (2002) (finding 

the "in connection with" requirement satisfied if the "scheme to defraud and the sale of securities 

coincide").   

65
  Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 200 (1976).  

66  Rockies Fund, Inc. v. SEC, 428 F.3d 1088, 1093 (D.C. Cir. 2005) (stating that scienter 

can be established by an "extreme departure from the standards of ordinary care, . . . which 

presents a danger of misleading buyers or sellers that is either known to the defendant or is so 

obvious that the actor must have been aware of it."); SEC v. Steadman, 967 F.2d 636, 641-42 

(D.C. Cir. 1992). 

67
  Securities Act Section 17(a) makes it unlawful for any person in the offer or sale of 

securities "to employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud" or "to engage in any transaction, 

practice, or course of business which operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon the 

purchaser."  15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)(1), (3).  Scienter is required to establish a violation of Section 
(continued…) 
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valid concerns as baseless; an internal email to SGC staff that falsely characterized Pershing's 

decision to stop facilitating CD purchases; and misleading talking points following exposure of 

the Madoff fraud. 

a. Young engaged in fraud by authorizing the February Responses. 

We find that the February Responses were devices, schemes, and artifices to deceive 

concerned CD investors, and operated as a fraud by dismissing their concerns with false and 

misleading assertions.  Young is liable because he authorized the responses with extreme 

indifference to the obvious risk of misleading the investors.   

 The February Responses—which dismissed the investors' concerns as "taken out of 

context, selectively chosen . . . and opinion, not fact" and "incomplete[] . . . , or just plain 

wrong"—were materially misleading and deceptive.  They falsely stated, for instance, that the 

Bank used "a prudent investment approach that it has followed for 20 years"; that the Bank's 

"investment portfolio is a globally diversified allocation that is invested across countries, asset 

classes, sectors and currencies"; and that the "money deposited in [SIB] is . . . not invested in 

Stanford's Antiguan developments."  In addition, like the Disclosure Statement, the February 

Responses cultivated a deceptive illusion of transparency by telling the investors that "Stanford 

leadership . . . can speak in significant depth" to their questions—while omitting any mention of 

the alleged transparency restrictions.  The responses falsely suggested that insurance protection 

existed by claiming that SIB had "insurance policies in place to indemnify in case of fraud and/or 

embezzlement"—without explaining that none of these policies indemnified investors or 

protected them from fraud.  

 These false statements and omissions were material.  They were directly relevant to the 

total mix of information about investments in the CDs, intended to counter significant and 

legitimate concerns about, among other things, SIB's portfolio, the legitimacy of the CDs, 

Antiguan corruption, and regulatory oversight.   

 Although the February Responses were not directly attributed to him, Young directed 

their preparation and approved their transmission by the FAs to the clients.  Young's conduct 

constituted a deceptive device, scheme, or artifice to defraud under Rule 10b-5(a) and Securities 

Act Section 17(a)(1), and an act, practice, or course of business which operates or would operate 

as a fraud or deceit under Rule 10b-5(c).68  Internal emails between Young, the FAs, and other 

                                                           
 
(…continued) 

17(a)(1) but negligence will establish a violation of Section 17(a)(3).  Aaron v. SEC, 446 U.S. 

680, 701-02 (1980). 

68  Young suggests that Janus applies to all of the alleged violations, but the "making" 

language interpreted in Janus appears only in Rule 10b-5(b).  See, e.g., Donald L. Koch, 

Advisers Act Release No. 3826, 2014 WL 1998524, at *18 (May 16, 2014) (stating that Janus 

does not apply to respondents charged with manipulative and deceptive conduct), petition 

granted in part and denied in part, 793 F.3d 147 (D.C. Cir. 2015). 
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SGC personnel show that Young reviewed the investors' inquiries, directed the strategy for the 

Firm's response, and approved the written responses that were sent to SGC's clients.  We further 

find that Young's liability is not based on a single decision or action but reflected his direct 

involvement in an ongoing practice and course of business that violated Section 17(a)(3).69  

Throughout his SGC tenure, Young repeatedly directed and approved the presentation of 

materially misleading statements and omissions about the Bank and CDs, including as part of the 

roadshow presentation shortly before SGC's collapse.   

 Young acted with scienter.  Given the facts known to him, the danger of misleading 

investors through the portfolio and insurance assurances was so obvious that Young must have 

been aware of it.  He was, at the very least, recklessly indifferent to the truth or falsity of the 

February Responses and to the obvious risk of misleading investors by dismissing the February 

Inquiries—as mere "opinion, not fact" or "just plain wrong"—while responding with 

unsubstantiated, unqualified, dismissive and false assurances.70  Further supporting our finding is 

his reckless indifference to the numerous red flags surrounding the February Inquiries, including 

questions about whether SIB was operating a Ponzi scheme.  Even if Young believed the 

reassurances as he claims, including them in the February Responses without any investigation 

evidences the kind of "egregious refusal to see the obvious, or to investigate the doubtful" that is 

strong evidence of recklessness.71   

                                                           
69

  See Webster's New International Dictionary 1937 (def. 1b) (2d ed. 1934) (defining 

"practice," when used as a noun, in terms suggesting repeated conduct engaged in over time: 

"often, repeated or customary action; usage; habit; custom; … the usual mode or method of 

doing something"); id. 610 (def. 5) (defining "course," when used in phrases like "course of 

conduct," to mean "a succession of acts or practices" or "[a] series of motions or acts"); see also 

Johnny Clifton, Exchange Act Release No. 69982, 2013 WL 3487076, at *10 (July 12, 2013) 

(finding that respondent's repeated attempts to conceal material adverse information from sales 

representatives and prospective investors was a fraudulent course of business that violated 

Section 17(a)(3)). 

70
  An experienced securities professional acts with scienter if he recklessly "fail[s] to verify 

the legitimacy of the investment."  SEC v. George, 426 F.3d 786, 795 (6th Cir. 2005); see also 

Gebhart v. SEC, 595 F.3d 1034, 1043 (9th Cir. 2010).  

71  Chill v. General Elec. Co., 101 F.3d 263, 269 (2d Cir. 1996) (internal citations omitted); 

see also Hanly v. SEC, 415 F.2d 589, 597 (2d. Cir. 1969) (noting the duty to disclose the 

unavailability of "essential information" about a security and "the risks which arise from [t]his 

lack of information").  Young asserts that he had no motive to mislead investors because his 

financial incentives were not directly tied to the CDs.  But we need not identify a motive to find 

scienter.  See, e.g., Matrixx Initiatives, Inc. v. Siracusano, 131 S. Ct. 1309, 1324 (2011) (stating 

that "[t]he absence of a motive allegation, though relevant, is not dispositive").  In any event, 

Young was motivated to ensure SGC's financial survival and, as he testified, its growth as "a 

world class organization."  

 Young also argues he should not be blamed for his failure to expand his inquiries because 

collusion among knowledgeable officials precluded his discovery of the scheme.  But Young's 
(continued…) 



28 

 

Young seeks to shift blame by claiming that the February Responses merely "parroted" 

statements that were "boilerplate" previously drafted or vetted by the Bank or its affiliated 

persons for the Disclosure Statement or Brochure.72  But the February Responses included 

fraudulent statements that were not derived from the Marketing Materials or that were included 

to counter February Inquiries about the safety of the CDs —including statements (i) denigrating 

the investors' concerns as biased, incorrect, and outdated; (ii) asserting that the "money deposited 

in [SIB] is . . . not invested in Stanford's Antiguan developments"; and (iii) claiming that SIB had 

"insurance policies in place to indemnify in case of fraud and/or embezzlement."  Moreover, 

Young knew that his own direction and approval—not just the approval of those on whom he 

purported to rely—was required before these responses could be sent.  And he must have known 

that the statements about SIB's willingness to answer questions were deceptive and misleading 

given his own inability to verify information about SIB's portfolio.73     

During its final two years, SGC's financial difficulties mounted and Young faced ever-

increasing red flags, including escalating concern and skepticism about SIB and the portfolio 

among regulators and independent securities professionals.  Young also faced repeated questions 

about the Bank's auditor and Antiguan regulatory oversight.  While SGC's finances became 

increasingly precarious, requiring substantial monthly infusions from SFG, Young also learned 

that other securities professionals had raised doubts about SGC and SIB finances that echoed the 

Ponzi scheme warning he received in February 2007.74  In order to counter these red flags, 

Young and other SGC officials employed devices, schemes, and artifices to deceive investors 

and engaged in acts and practices that operated as a fraud or deceit.   

                                                           
 
(…continued) 

liability is premised on his own responses to red flags and failures to inquire; it is not dependent 

on how others might have responded to potential inquiries.  Cf. Wendy McNeeley, Exchange Act 

Release No. 68431, 2012 WL 6457291, at *12 (Dec. 13, 2012) (rejecting auditor's claim that 

"any follow up . . . would have been futile"). 

72
   Given Young's admission that he did not take any steps to investigate the February 

Inquiries, it is highly unlikely that counsel reviewed the February Responses.  And even if 

Young believed that the responses repeated statements that counsel had reviewed in other 

contexts, Young's reliance without any relevant legal inquiry was reckless in light of the red 

flags the February Inquiries presented and his knowledge of facts making the responses 

misleading.  See SEC v. Melvin Ray Lyttle, 538 F.3d 601, 604 (7th Cir. 2008) ("One doesn't have 

to be the inventor of a lie to be responsible for knowingly repeating it.").   

73  See SEC v. Pirate Investor LLC, 580 F.3d 233, 243 (4th Cir. 2009) ("[T]he fact that a 

defendant publishes statements when in possession of facts suggesting that the statements are 

false is 'classic evidence of scienter.'" (citations omitted)). 

74  Graham, 222 F.3d at 1005 (finding that "economically irrational trading was a large red 

flag"). 
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b. Young engaged in fraud by distributing the Pershing e-mail.  

We find that Young employed a deceptive device and artifice to defraud, and engaged in 

a deceptive act, violating Exchange Act Section 10b-5(a) and 10b-5(c) and Securities Act 

Section 17(a)(1) when he approved and distributed a misleading explanation for Pershing's 

decision to stop wiring funds for CD purchases.75  This distribution falsely attributed Pershing's 

decision to tax reporting issues unrelated to the real reason—i.e., the inability to verify SIB's 

claims about the portfolio—to reassure FAs and their clients that Pershing's decision was not 

cause for concern.  

 Young's actions were part of a deceptive SGC effort to conceal Pershing's unwillingness 

to accept the lack of portfolio transparency and to minimize its effect on FA confidence and CD 

sales.  Shortly after another SGC official sent him the proposed explanation, Young agreed to 

forward it "to all of compliance" and later that night sent it to other SGC compliance officials 

with instructions for further distribution.   

 Young denies knowing the true reason for Pershing's decision, but his claim of ignorance 

is implausible given his awareness of Pershing's longstanding efforts to verify SIB's portfolio 

assets.76  At a minimum, it was reckless under these circumstances for Young to distribute the 

explanation without making any effort to confirm its accuracy.77   

c. Young engaged in fraud through his approval of the Madoff talking points. 

 Young also violated Exchange Act Rules 10b-5(a) and (c) and Securities Act Section 

17(a)(1) and (3) by approving false and misleading talking points for the sales staff to use in 

reassuring clients following news reports about the Madoff Ponzi scheme.  His approval was, at 

a minimum, reckless given the red flags and other surrounding circumstances.  Like SGC's 

responses to the February Inquiries, the talking points sought to address concerns about the 

                                                           
75  Although this message was not delivered directly to investors, the explanation was "in 

connection with the purchase and sale" of the CD because it described changes to the mechanics 

for purchases and was intended to ensure that they continued.  Cf. MLSMK Inv. Co. v. JPMorgan 

Chase & Co., 651 F.3d 268, 277 n.11 (2d Cir. 2011) ("Conduct undertaken to keep a securities 

fraud Ponzi scheme alive is conduct undertaken in connection with the purchase and sale of 

securities" under the Exchange Act). 

76  As early as June 2007, Young exchanged e-mails with a Pershing risk manager who was 

seeking to verify SIB's portfolio assets.  Young was in regular contact with another Pershing 

official who testified that Young understood Pershing's verification efforts.  Moreover, in April 

2008, in the midst of SGC's negotiations with Pershing for portfolio verification, Young sent a 

memo that explained SGC's options for terminating the clearing relationship and recognized 

SGC's interest in avoiding "[i]ncreased scrutiny."  And, in testimony, Young acknowledged that 

he knew about the ongoing efforts to secure third-party portfolio verification as Pershing 

proposed. 

77  See Gebhart, 595 F.3d at 1041.  
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safety and legitimacy of the CDs through misleading assurances about SIB's portfolio and 

insurance.
  
One talking point encouraged the FAs to represent, without verification, that SIB 

"[h]ad no exposure to CDOs, CMOs, Structured Products, including those of Fairfield/Madoff."78  

Another talking point echoed earlier false assurances about the protection afforded by SIB's 

insurance policies, including policies purportedly issued by Lloyd's of London.   

 
Young's review and approval of these misleading talking points was a deceptive device, 

scheme or artifice to defraud SGC clients by challenging parallels between Madoff's operations 

and those of SIB.  Although Young purported to approve this distribution for "internal use only," 

he knew that each of these deceptive statements could be repeated to investors because the e-

mail itself encouraged their use "when fielding calls from" clients.  Young's approval of each of 

these statements also reflected his ongoing fraudulent practices and courses of business of 

recklessly using and approving similar misstatements about SIB's portfolio and insurance to 

placate the concerns of investors. 

2. Young aided and abetted and caused SGC's violations of antifraud provisions. 

In addition to Young's primary liability, the conduct described above also establishes 

SGC's primary liability for violating Exchange Act Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5(a) and (c), and 

Young's liability for aiding and abetting and causing those violations.79  Aiding and abetting 

liability can be established by: (1) a primary violation of the securities laws; (2) the aider and 

abettor's knowledge or recklessness as to the violation;
  
and (3) the aider and abettor's substantial 

assistance in the achievement of the primary violation.80  These elements are satisfied.  With 

respect to each violation, the findings above establish the Firm's primary liability,81 Young's 

knowledge or recklessness as to the violation and his role in the violation, and Young's 

substantial assistance. 

 

                                                           
78  Young claims these statements were "derived from" the Marketing Materials, but the 

Marketing Materials did not address whether the portfolio held CDOs, CMOs or 

"Fairfield/Madoff" securities.    

79  A person who aids and abets violations is also a cause of those violations.  Graham, 

1998 WL 823072, at *7 n.35. 

80  SEC v. Apuzzo, 689 F.3d 204, 206 (2d Cir. 2012); Graham, 222 F.3d at 1004 (stating that 

knowledge or recklessness establishes scienter for aiding and abetting liability); Abraham & 

Sons Capital, Inc., Exchange Act Release No. 44624, 2001 WL 865448, at *7 (July 31, 2001) 

(stating that the requisite scienter may be established by "general awareness or reckless disregard 

by [the person] of the wrongdoing and of his role in furthering it").    

81
  The conduct and state of mind establishing SGC's primary liability is imputed to the Firm 

from Young and other responsible Firm officials.  A.J. White & Co. v. SEC, 556 F.2d 619, 624 

(1st Cir. 1977) (holding that a firm "is accountable for the actions of its responsible officers"); 

Warwick Capital Mgmt., 2008 WL 149127, at *9 n.33 ("A company's scienter is imputed from 

that of the individuals controlling it.").  See infra note 83 and accompanying text. 
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The findings also establish SGC's violations of Exchange Act Section 15(c)(1) and 

Advisers Act Section 206(1) and (2), and Young's liability for aiding and abetting and causing 

those violations.  The prohibitions in those sections, which are applicable to SGC, are 

substantially the same as the prohibitions in Rule 10b-5(a) and (c).82 

 

Finally, Young aided and abetted and caused SGC's violation of Rule 10b-5(b) in 

connection with the February Responses.  SGC violated Rule 10b-5(b) by "making" these 

deceptive and misleading statements, which were attributable to SGC, through the FAs.  Young 

aided and abetted and caused SGC's primary violation by directing the preparation of the 

February Responses and authorizing the FAs to send the responses to SGC clients.83 

                                                           
82  Under Exchange Act Section 15(c)(1), it is unlawful for broker-dealers to "induce or 

attempt to induce the purchase or sale of any security" through any "manipulative, deceptive, or 

other fraudulent device or contrivance," which includes, among other things, "any act, practice, 

or course of business which operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person."  

15 U.S.C. § 78o(c)(1); Exchange Act Rule 15c1-2(a); see also George, 426 F.3d at 792.   

 Advisers Act Section 206 applies similar prohibitions to investment advisers.  15 U.S.C. 

§ 80b-6(1) (making it unlawful for investment advisers to "employ any device, scheme, or 

artifice to defraud any client or prospective client"); 15 U.S.C. § 80b-6(2) (prohibiting "any 

transaction practice or course of business which operates as a fraud or deceit upon any client or 

prospective client").  Scienter is required to establish a violation of Section 206(1) but negligence 

is sufficient to establish a violation of Section 206(2).  Vernazza v. SEC, 327 F.3d 851, 860 (9th 

Cir. 2003); Steadman, 967 F.2d at 641.  See supra note 38 and accompanying text. 

83
  Under Rule 10b-5(b), the maker of a statement is the person or entity with "ultimate 

control over the content of the" communication and the decision to send it.  SEC v. Pentagon 

Capital Mgmt. PLC, 725 F.3d 279, 286-87 (2d Cir. 2013).  Here, the record confirms that SGC, 

through Young and the FAs acting together, exercised ultimate authority over the February 

Responses and the decision to send them to the investors.  The FAs did not have ultimate control 

because SGC's approval, via Young, was required before the responses could be sent.   

 Young argues that he should not be held liable for fraudulent statements that he did not 

transmit directly to investors and that liability is precluded by Janus Capital Grp., Inc. v. First 

Derivative Traders, 131 S. Ct. 2296, 2302 (2011) (holding that an investment adviser who 

helped prepare prospectuses did not make the prospectus statements).  But Janus does not 

preclude a finding that Young aided and abetted statements made by SGC.  Janus explained that 

"in the ordinary case, attribution within a statement or implicit from surrounding circumstances 

is strong evidence that a statement was made by—and only by—the party to whom it is 

attributed."  Id. at 2302.  Here, the record confirms SGC's primary liability for making the 

February Responses because they were attributed to SGC.  Even though these statements were 

not attributed to Young, he substantially assisted this violation by overseeing the responses and 

giving the required approval after the FAs and other SGC officials expressly sought his guidance 

and relied on his approval for sending them. 
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C.   Young's remaining arguments lack merit. 

 1. Document Production 

 Young argues that his ability to prepare a defense was compromised, and he was denied 

due process, because the Division was "unable to locate his extensive due-diligence file" and 

because the receiver who took possession of SGC's assets denied him personal access to "700 

boxes of un-indexed, potentially relevant documents."84     

 We, however, find no prejudice to Young.  We begin by noting that Young does not 

argue, and there is nothing in the record to suggest, that the Division failed to comply with the 

applicable requirements outlined in our Rules of Practice regarding document production and 

discovery.  For example, Rule of Practice 230 requires the Division to provide a respondent with 

access to its investigative file, i.e., "documents obtained by the Division . . . in connection with 

the investigation leading to the Division's recommendation to institute proceedings."85  

Moreover, although Rule 230 permits the Division to withhold a limited category of 

documents—to prevent disclosure of a confidential source, because the document is privileged, 

or for other recognized reasons—it expressly provides that "documents that contain material 

exculpatory evidence" may not be withheld.86  The record indicates that the Division complied 

with these requirements.  The record further indicates that the Division, in addition to providing 

access to its own investigative file, sought to accommodate Young's access to documents held by 

the receiver.87   

                                                           
84

  At oral argument, Young claimed he has not seen a "complete set of due diligence 

binders, [his] original handwritten notes, responses to other regulatory requests, or any of the 

records other than what the staff has arbitrarily decided to provide [him]."  The record offers no 

evidence, and Young points to none, that the Division withheld such documents from its 

investigative file or that the Division's production decisions were arbitrary.    

 Young also argued that Commission administrative proceedings deny respondents due 

process because "federal rules of evidence . . . don't apply."  But we have long rejected such 

arguments, see, e.g., Del Mar Fin. Servs., Inc., Exchange Act Release No. 48691, 2003 WL 

22425516, at *8 (Oct. 24, 2003), and, as discussed below, we find no basis to conclude that 

Young was prejudiced in the conduct of these proceedings.    

85
  17 C.F.R. § 201.230(a). 

86
  17 C.F.R. § 201.230(b)(2). 

87
  Young could have sought documents from the receiver by subpoena under Rule of 

Practice 232 based on a showing of "the general relevance and reasonable scope of 

the . . . evidence sought."  17 C.F.R. § 201.232(a)(2).  Young never sought such a subpoena, 

which would also have required the prior approval of the district court.  See Second Order 

Appointing Receiver, Civil Action No. 3:09-cv-298, doc. no. 1130 (N.D. Tex. filed July 19, 

2010) (Section 10(a) requiring prior district court approval for "[a]ny act to obtain possession of 

the Receivership Estate assets").   
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 Although the receiver imposed certain limitations on Young's access to SGC's record—

including requiring Young to send a representative to review the records and limiting access to 

just the files of Young and his assistant—those limitations were consistent with the receiver's 

court appointment which charged him with taking control of all the Stanford records and other 

assets and performing all acts necessary to prevent any irreparable loss or damage to the assets.88  

Although Young's then counsel complained to the law judge at a prehearing conference about the 

limitations imposed by the receiver, neither counsel then, nor Young subsequently, ever showed 

why the access provided was insufficient, how any of the other records the receiver held might 

have been relevant, or identified any categories of documents that were relevant to his defense 

which he did not have access to by virtue of the Division's document production (including its 

production of exculpatory Brady material pursuant to Rule 230). 

 It is significant that at the hearing Young expressly acknowledged that the record 

included the SGC due diligence files he produced to regulators while he was CCO.  The due 

diligence files were compiled and sent in response to a Commission subpoena seeking "[a]ll 

documents regarding due diligence performed by SGC regarding SIB and SIB CDs."  Young 

offers no suggestion as to why or how the receiver would have held additional due diligence files 

separate from the materials he produced in response to that subpoena specifically requesting all 

such documents.  We find that Young was not prejudiced with respect to his access to SGC 

files.89    

 2.  Statute of Limitations  

 Young further challenges these proceedings based on the federal five year statute of 

limitations, 28 U.S.C. Section 2462, which applies to an "action or proceeding for the 

                                                           
88

  Second Order Appointing Receiver, Civil Action No. 3:09-cv-298, doc. no. 1130 (N.D. 

Tex. filed July 19, 2010). 

89
  Gary M. Kornman, Exchange Act Release No. 59403, 2009 WL 367635, at *12 n.70 

(Feb. 13, 2009) (noting that Rule 230 applies to "existing information in the Division's 

investigative file, but [not] to new discovery" sought by the respondent), petition denied, 592 

F.3d 173 (D.C. Cir. 2010).   

 Young, who has never suggested what exculpatory evidence any other files held by the 

receiver might contain or how it could exonerate him, was not "'entitled to conduct a fishing 

expedition … in an effort to discover something that might assist him in his defense’… or ‘in the 

hopes that some evidence will turn up to support an otherwise unsubstantiated theory.'" Brown, 

2012 WL 625874, at *22 n.77 (internal citations omitted); cf. Scott Epstein, Exchange Act 

Release No. 59328, 2009 WL 223611, at *17 n.54 (Jan. 30, 2009); Kirlin Sec., Inc., Exchange 

Act Release No. 61135, 2009 WL 4731652, at *17 (Dec. 10, 2009) ("Because Applicants have 

failed to establish what information they were denied and how that denial prejudiced their case, 

we reject Applicants’ argument that the proceedings against them were procedurally flawed."); 

Gateway Stock & Bond, Inc., Exchange Act Release No. 8003, 1966 WL 84124, at *3 (Dec. 8, 

1966) (rejecting due process argument because "applicants have not shown that … any material 

evidence was not produced"). 
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enforcement of any civil fine, penalty, or forfeiture."  Young argues that the limitations period 

began to run in 2005, because the Commission suspected fraud involving the CDs at that time, 

and therefore expired in 2010, before these proceedings were instituted in August 2012.90 

The statute of limitations applies to our authority to impose punitive sanctions, such as 

civil money penalties.91  It does not apply to the imposition of equitable remedial sanctions, such 

as bars, cease and desist orders, or orders of disgorgement.92  Even where the sanction is deemed 

punitive, and the violation that provides the basis for the sanction must have occurred within five 

years from the institution of proceedings, we may still consider additional misconduct from 

outside that period that reflect on a respondent's motive, intent, or knowledge during the 

limitations period.  We also may consider evidence outside the limitations period showing that 

the respondent's misconduct during the limitations period reflected ongoing courses of fraudulent 

conduct.93 

                                                           
90

   As support, Young cites Gabelli v. SEC, 133 S. Ct. 1216, 1220 (2013), where the Court 

declined to "graft[] the discovery rule onto § 2462" and held that the limitations period "begins to 

tick" when the "fraudulent conduct occurs."  133 S. Ct. at 1220.  But Gabelli does not support 

Young's suggestion that an investigation or suspicion of fraud can trigger the running of the 

statute of limitations before an ongoing course of fraudulent conduct is complete.  Adopting 

Young's view would immunize ongoing fraudulent conduct that lasts longer than five years.  See 

Birkelbach v. SEC, 751 F.3d 472, 479 (7th Cir. 2014) (stating that "any violative conduct that 

falls within the statute of limitations is independently sanctionable, regardless of whether there 

was additional violative conduct which occurred before that time" and rejecting an interpretation 

where "avoid[ing] detection for five years" would allow the violator to "continue his unethical 

behavior forever" without discipline); Newell Recycling Co., Inc. v. EPA, 231 F.3d 204, 206 (5th 

Cir. 2000) (finding that the statute of limitations "did not accrue until the course of conduct 

complained of no longer continued" (italics added)). 

 Young attached to his filings a 2005 letter from Commission staff describing the then-

suspected fraud.  Although Young complains that the Commission's website includes a redacted 

version of this letter, the letter in the record is unredacted and was available to the parties on 

appeal. 

91
  Gabelli, 133 S. Ct. at 1223 (stating that "penalties . . . go beyond compensation [and] are 

intended to punish"). 

92
  Timbervest, LLC, Exchange Act Release No. 31830, 2015 WL 5472520, at *15 (Sept. 17, 

2015) (explaining that industry bars, cease and desist orders, and disgorgement are equitable 

remedies and are not subject to Section 2462). 

93
  See Birkelbach, 741 F.3d at 482 (explaining that the Commission "may consider pertinent 

conduct occurring both before and after the relevant violative period to craft its sanction" and 

"even assuming the five-year period applies, there was no error in the SEC considering events 

outside that period in crafting its sanction"); Brown, 2012 WL 625874, at *14 ("We may, 

however, consider conduct that occurred outside the statute of limitations to establish 

Respondents' motive, intent, or knowledge in committing violations that occurred within the 
(continued…) 
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 Here, proceedings were instituted in 2012.  Although Young's misconduct that forms the 

basis for the Division's allegations began more than five years earlier, it continued for 

approximately a year and a half within the limitations period.  And, while our authority to 

impose bars or other remedial sanctions is not limited by the statute of limitations, we have based 

our imposition of civil money penalties on violations that occurred within the limitations period, 

along with evidence from outside that period that reflects on his intent and on the ongoing nature 

of his fraudulent conduct.  

IV.  Sanctions 

 The Advisers Act and Exchange Act authorize the Commission to bar individuals from 

association with any investment adviser, broker, dealer, municipal securities dealer, municipal 

advisor, transfer agent, or nationally recognized statistical rating organization if the person has 

willfully violated the securities laws and we find such sanction to be in the public interest.94  The 

Investment Company Act authorizes the Commission to prohibit any person from serving or 

acting in certain capacities with respect to an investment company when similar conditions are 

satisfied.95  To determine whether such remedies are in the public interest, we consider, among 

other things, the egregiousness of the respondent's actions; the degree of scienter; the isolated or 

recurrent nature of the infraction; the respondent's recognition of the wrongful nature of his or 

her conduct; the sincerity of any assurances against future violations; and the likelihood that the 

                                                           
 
(…continued) 

statute of limitations."); Jacob Wonsover, Exchange Act Release No. 41123, 1999 WL 100935, 

at *11 (Mar. 1, 1999) (stating that "evidence relating to information that Wonsover knew or that 

he reasonably should have discovered before the five-year period—which would have alerted 

Wonsover to the need for searching inquiry . . . properly may be considered in evaluating the 

culpability of Wonsover's actions within the five-year period"), petition denied, 205 F.3d 408 

(D.C. Cir. 2000); Russel Ponce, Exchange Act Release No. 43245, 2000 WL 1232986, at *12 

(Aug. 31, 2000) (stating that we may consider "conduct outside the limitations period to 

determine motive, intent, or course of conduct" (citing United States v. Gavin, 565 F.2d 519, 523 

(8th Cir. 1977)), petition denied, 345 F.3d 722 (9th Cir. 2003)). 

94  15 U.S.C. § 80b-3(f); 15 U.S.C. § 78o(b).   Although we also now are authorized to 

impose bars from association with a municipal advisor or nationally recognized statistical rating 

organization, we do not do so here because Young's misconduct pre-dates such authority, which 

was provided in the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act enacted in 

2010.  See Koch v. SEC, 793 F.3d 147, 158 (D.C. Cir. 2015). 

95  15 U.S.C.§ 80a-9(b) (authorizing the Commission to prohibit persons from serving or 

acting as an employee, officer, director, member of an advisory board, investment adviser or 

depositor of, or principal underwriter for, a registered investment company or affiliated person of 

such investment adviser, depositor, or principal underwriter).   
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respondent's occupation will present opportunities for future violations.96  Although Young 

challenges each of the sanctions imposed by the law judge, he fails to identify mitigating factors 

justifying lesser sanctions.       

 Young engaged in egregious and repeated violations throughout his years at the Firm, 

resulting in substantial investor losses.  By wholly failing to carry out his professional due 

diligence responsibilities and approving false and misleading reassurances in response to red 

flags about SIB and the CDs, Young played a central role in maintaining the legitimacy 

necessary to perpetuate Stanford's scheme for several years.  In doing so, he demonstrated 

extreme recklessness and obvious unfitness for employment in the securities industry.97   

 We also note that Young evidences a lack of remorse and places all blame on others.  In 

addition, Young's efforts to thwart regulatory investigations of SGC demonstrate hostility and 

indifference to regulatory oversight.  Young's troubling attitude and failure to explain how he 

would respond differently in the future support our conclusion that he presents an unacceptable 

risk if permitted to return to industry-related employment.  The public interest therefore will be 

served by barring him from association with any investment adviser, broker, dealer, municipal 

securities dealer, or transfer agent, and prohibiting him from serving or acting as an employee, 

officer, director, member of an advisory board, investment adviser or depositor of, or principal 

underwriter for, a registered investment company or affiliated person of such investment adviser, 

depositor, or principal underwriter. 

 The Advisers Act and Exchange Act authorize cease-and-desist orders based on 

violations of the securities laws when there is a risk of future violations and such orders serve the 

public interest.98  The risk "need not be very great" and is ordinarily established by a single 

violation absent evidence to the contrary.99  Our findings, establishing numerous instances of 

misconduct over a multi-year period, amply justify such orders in this case.  

 We also are authorized to order disgorgement, including reasonable prejudgment 

interest,100 to prevent unjust enrichment and to reduce the incentive for others to engage in 

                                                           
96  Steadman v. SEC, 603 F.2d 1126, 1140 (5th Cir. 1979), aff'd on other grounds, 450 U.S. 

91 (1981). 

97  See John W. Lawton, Advisers Act Release No. 3513, 2012 WL 6208750, at *9 (Dec. 13, 

2012) (considering past conduct in evaluating "future risk to the public interest because" the 

"'degree of intentional wrongdoing evident in a defendant's past conduct' is an important 

indication of the defendant's propensity to subject the trading public to future harm" (quoting 

Aaron, 446 U.S. at 701)).  

98  15 U.S.C. § 80b-3(k) (Advisers Act); 15 U.S.C. § 78u-3(a) (Exchange Act). 

99
  KPMG, LLP v. SEC, 289 F.3d 109, 124 (D.C. Cir. 2002).   

100
  Securities Act Section 8A(e), 15 U.S.C. § 77h-1(e) (cease and desist proceedings); 

Exchange Act Section 21C(e), 15 U.S.C. § 78u-3(e) (cease and desist proceedings); Advisers Act 

Section 203(k)(5), 15 U.S.C § 80b-3(k)(5) (cease and desist proceedings); Exchange Act Section 

21B(e), 15 U.S.C. § 78u-2(e) (civil penalty proceedings).   
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similar violations.101  Salary and other compensation may be disgorged,102 and where it is difficult 

to separate compensation for legitimate versus illegitimate activities, the calculation need only 

reasonably approximate the portion of compensation causally connected to the misconduct or 

unjust enrichment.103  Once evidence reasonably approximating the unjust enrichment is 

introduced, the wrongdoer must show that the proposed amount is not reasonable.104  The law 

judge's determination to order Young to disgorge $591,992.46, plus prejudgment interest, 

comports with this requirement.  The Division introduced undisputed evidence regarding 

Young's total compensation ($1,068,964.36) and the percentage of SGC's revenue generated 

from the CDs during that period (55.38 percent).105  Accordingly, we order Young to disgorge 

$591.992.46, plus prejudgment interest. 

 We may impose civil penalties for willful violations of the securities laws if it serves the 

public interest.106  We find that two third-tier penalties, of $130,000 each are warranted based on 

Young's authorization of the Madoff talking points, which constituted separate violations based 

on false and misleading statements and omissions of material facts about (i) SIB's portfolio and  

  

                                                           
101  See SEC v. First City Fin. Corp., 890 F.2d 1215, 1230 (D.C. Cir. 1989). 

102  Gregory O. Trautman, Exchange Act Release No. 61167A, 2009 WL 6761741, at *22 

(Dec. 15, 2009). 

103  SEC v. Patel, 61 F.3d 137, 139 (2d Cir. 1995) (citing First City, 890 F.2d at 1231).   

104
  SEC v. Happ, 392 F.3d 12, 31-32 (1st Cir. 2004) ("The risk of uncertainty in calculating 

disgorgement should fall on the wrongdoer whose illegal conduct created that uncertainty."). 

105  We see no basis for excluding a portion of his SGC salary, as Young argues, given that 

his fraudulent conduct extended throughout his tenure.  We further note that the law judge's 

calculation excluded $202,219.24 in reimbursement for travel and other expenses but properly 

included a $75,000 loan that was not repaid.      

106  15 U.S.C. § 80b-3(i)(1); 15 U.S.C. § 78u-2(b).  In assessing the public interest, we 

consider among other things whether the violations involved fraud and resulted in harm to 

others, and the need for deterrence.  15 U.S.C. § 80b-3(i)(3); 15 U.S.C. § 78u-2(c).     
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(ii) SIB's insurance coverage.  Young's actions with respect to the Madoff talking points occurred 

within five years of the institution of these proceedings, and therefore within the limitations 

period of Section 2462.  This conduct resulted in a risk of substantial losses to CD investors.107   

 An appropriate order will issue.108 

By the Commission (Chair WHITE and Commissioners STEIN and PIWOWAR). 

 

  

 

 

       Brent Fields 

          Secretary 

 

 

                                                           
107   15 U.S.C. § 80b-3(i)(2)(C); 15 U.S.C. § 78u-2(a).  The relevant maximum third-tier 

penalty for a single violative act or omission was $130,000.  17 C.F.R. § 201.1004 & Pt. 201, 

Subpt. E. Tbl. IV.  Young argues, in a separate motion, that he is unable to pay disgorgement and 

civil penalties.  But Young waived such claim by not making it before the law judge, and any 

potential public interest in his possible inability to pay is outweighed by the egregiousness of his 

misconduct.  See, e.g., Gregory O. Troutman, Exchange Act Release No. 61167A, 2009 WL 

6761741, at *24 (Dec. 15, 2009) (finding that the egregiousness of the respondent's conduct 

outweighed any public interest in discretionary waiver of monetary disgorgement, prejudgment 

or penalties). 

108
  We have considered all of the parties' contentions.  We have rejected or sustained them to 

the extent that they are inconsistent or in accord with the views expressed in this opinion.   
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ORDER IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS 

 On the basis of the Commission's opinion issued this day, it is 

 ORDERED that Bernerd E. Young cease and desist from committing or causing any 

violations or future violations of Sections 17(a)(1) of the Securities Act of 1933, Sections 10(b) 

and 15(c)(1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 thereunder, and Sections 

206(1) and 206(2) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940; and it is further 

 

 ORDERED that Bernerd E. Young be barred from association with any broker, dealer, 

investment adviser, municipal securities dealer, or transfer agent; and it is further 

 

 ORDERED that Bernerd E. Young is prohibited, permanently, from serving or acting as 

an employee, officer, director, member of an advisory board, investment adviser or depositor of, 

or principal underwriter for, a registered investment company or affiliated person of such 

investment adviser, depositor, or principal underwriter; and it is further 

 

 ORDERED that Bernerd E. Young disgorge $591,992.46, plus prejudgment interest of 

$155,583.38, such prejudgment interest calculated beginning from March 1, 2009, with such 
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interest continuing to accrue on funds owed until they are paid, in accordance with Commission 

Rule of Practice 600; and it is further  

 

 ORDERED that Bernerd E. Young pay a civil money penalty of $260,000.  

 

 Payment of the amounts to be disgorged and the civil money penalty shall be: (i) made by 

United States postal money order, certified check, bank cashier's check, wire transfer, or bank 

money order; (ii) made payable to the Securities and Exchange Commission; (iii) mailed to 

Enterprises Services Center, Accounts Receivable Branch, HQ Bldg., Room 181, AMZ-341, 

6500 South MacArthur Bid., Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73169; and (iv) submitted under cover 

letter that identifies the respondent and file number of this proceeding.  

 

 By the Commission. 

 

 

 

 

        Brent Fields 

          Secretary 


